
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 21 June 2017 5.30 pm 
Committee Rooms 1-2, City 

Hall 

 
Membership: 
 

 
Councillors Jim Hanrahan (Chair), Peter West (Vice-Chair), 
Biff Bean, Kathleen Brothwell, Bob Bushell, Paul Gowen, 
Gary Hewson, Ronald Hills, Tony Speakman, Edmund Strengiel 
and Naomi Tweddle 
 

Substitute members: 
 

Councillors Jackie Kirk and Neil Murray 
 

Officers attending: 
 

Mick Albans, Emma Brownless, Simon Cousins, Democratic 
Services, Kieron Manning and Paul Thompson 
 

 
The Planning Committee comprises democratically elected members who will be presented 
with a recommendation from the professional officers for each application on the agenda. 
After each application has been presented, those interested parties who have registered to 
speak will then be given 5 minutes to verbally present their views, and, following this, the 
committee will debate each proposal and make the decision, having considered all relevant 
information. 
 
Clearly the process of making a decision will inevitably cause some people to feel aggrieved, 
but it is hoped that all interested parties will feel that their views have been considered as 
part of the process. 
 
Please ensure that your mobile phones are switched off or set to silent throughout the 
meeting and please refrain from attempting to speak from the public gallery unless you have 
formally registered to speak on an application, in which case the Chair will call you to the 
table at the relevant time. 
 

A G E N D A 

SECTION A Page(s)  

1.  Confirmation of Minutes - 24 May 2017  
 

5 - 18 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 
Please note that, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, 
when declaring interests members must disclose the existence and 
nature of the interest, and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI) or personal and/or pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  Work to Trees in City Council Ownership  
 

19 - 24 

Public Document Pack



 

4.  Applications for Development  
 

 

(a)   Land Bounded By Rope Walk, High Street, Firth Road and Beevor 
Street, Lincoln.  
 

25 - 128 

(b)   Land At Blenheim Road, Lincoln.  
 

129 - 164 

(c)   Queens Park Play Area, South Park, Lincoln.  
 

165 - 178 

(d)   1 Primrose Close, Lincoln  
 

179 - 210 



 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

FOR PLANNING, LISTED BUILDING, CONSERVATION AREA AND ADVERTISEMENT 
APPLICATIONS ON THE AGENDA OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 

The Background Papers for the Planning, Listed Building, Conservation Area and 
Advertisement Applications are: 
 
1. The appropriate Planning Information Folder: This is a file with the same reference 

number as that shown on the Agenda for the Application. It contains the following 
documents: 
 
(a) the application forms; 
(b) plans of the proposed development; 
(c) site plans; 
(d) certificate relating to ownership of the site; 
(e) consultation letters and replies to and from statutory consultees and bodies; 
(f) letters and documents from interested parties; 
(g) memoranda of consultation and replies to and from Departments of the Council. 
 

2. Any previous Planning Information Folders referred to in the Reports on the Agenda for 
the particular application or in the Planning Information Folder specified above. 
 

3. City of Lincoln Local Plan: Adopted 26 August 1998. 
 

4. The emerging draft Local Development Framework is now a material consideration. 
 

5. Lincolnshire Structure Plan – Final Modifications 3 January 2006 
 

6. Regional Spatial Strategy – 17 March 2005 
 

7. Applications which have Background Papers additional to those specified in 1 to 6 
above set out in the following table.  These documents may be inspected at the 
Planning Reception, City Hall, Beaumont Fee, Lincoln. 

 
APPLICATIONS WITH ADDITIONAL BACKGROUND PAPERS (See 7 above.) 
 
Application No.:  Additional Background Papers 



 

CRITERIA FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE SITE VISITS (AGREED BY DC COMMITTEE ON 
21 JUNE 2006 AND APPROVED BY FULL COUNCIL ON 15 AUGUST 2006) 
 
 
Criteria: 
 

 Applications which raise issues which are likely to require detailed first hand knowledge 
of the site and its surroundings to enable a well-informed decision to be taken and the 
presentational material at Committee would not provide the necessary detail or level of 
information. 

 

 Major proposals which are contrary to Local Plan policies and proposals but which have 
significant potential benefit such as job creation or retention, environmental 
enhancement, removal of non-confirming uses, etc. 

 

 Proposals which could significantly affect the city centre or a neighbourhood by reason 
of economic or environmental impact. 

 

 Proposals which would significantly affect the volume or characteristics of road traffic in 
the area of a site. 

 

 Significant proposals outside the urban area. 
 

 Proposals which relate to new or novel forms of development. 
 

 Developments which have been undertaken and which, if refused permission, would 
normally require enforcement action to remedy the breach of planning control. 

 

 Development which could create significant hazards or pollution. 
 
 
So that the targets for determining planning applications are not adversely affected by the 
carrying out of site visits by the Committee, the request for a site visit needs to be made as 
early as possible and site visits should be restricted to those matters where it appears 
essential.   
 
A proforma is available for all Members. This will need to be completed to request a site visit 
and will require details of the application reference and the reason for the request for the site 
visit.  It is intended that Members would use the proforma well in advance of the consideration 
of a planning application at Committee. It should also be used to request further or additional 
information to be presented to Committee to assist in considering the application.   
  



Planning Committee 24 May 2017 

 
Present: Councillor Jim Hanrahan (in the Chair),  

Councillor Peter West, Councillor Biff Bean, Councillor 
Kathleen Brothwell, Councillor Paul Gowen, Councillor 
Gary Hewson, Councillor Ronald Hills, Councillor 
Tony Speakman, Councillor Edmund Strengiel and 
Councillor Jackie Kirk 
 

Apologies for Absence: Councillor Bob Bushell 
 

 
1.  Confirmation of Minutes - 26 April 2017  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 26 April 2017 be confirmed. 
 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 

Councillor Edmund Strengiel declared a Personal Interest with regard to the 
agenda item titled '10-12 Lindum Terrace and 30-32 Sewell Road, Lincoln'.  
 
Reason: As a newly elected member on Lincolnshire County Council Highways 
Scrutiny Committee.  
 
Councillor Edmund Strengiel declared a Personal Interest with regard to the 
agenda item titled '128-130 Carholme Road, Lincoln'. Reason:  
 
As a newly elected member on Lincolnshire County Council Highways Scrutiny 
Committee.  
 
Councillor Edmund Strengiel declared a Personal Interest with regard to the 
agenda item titled 'Land to the North of Tentercroft Street, Lincoln'. Reason:  
 
As a newly elected member on Lincolnshire County Council Highways Scrutiny 
Committee.  
 
Councillor Edmund Strengiel declared a Personal Interest with regard to the 
agenda item titled '50 Eastbrook Road, Lincoln'.  
 
Reason: As a newly elected member on Lincolnshire County Council Highways 
Scrutiny Committee.  
 
Councillor Edmund Strengiel declared a Personal Interest with regard to the 
agenda item titled 'Dial A Ride, Bus Station, Melville Street, Lincoln'.  
 
Reason: As a newly elected member on Lincolnshire County Council Highways 
Scrutiny Committee.  
 
Councillor Peter West declared a Declaration of Predetermination with regard to 
the agenda item titled 'Land to the North of Tentercroft Street, Lincoln'.  
 
Reason: As the Portfolio Holder for Housing it could be perceived that he had 
predetermined his view due to his position. He left the room during the 
consideration of this item.  
 

5

Item No. 1



Councillor Ronald Hills declared a Personal Interest with regard to the agenda 
item titled '10-12 Lindum Terrace and 30-32 Sewell Road, Lincoln'.  
 
Reason: He was known to the applicant as a former work colleague, however, it 
was over ten years since they had worked together and his interest was not 
prejudicial.  
 
Councillor Edmund Strengiel declared a Personal Interest with regard to the 
agenda item titled 'Central Lincolnshire Local Plan Update Report'.  
 
Reason: As a newly elected member on Lincolnshire County Council Highways 
Scrutiny Committee.  
 

3.  Work to Trees in City Council Ownership  
 

The Arboricultural Officer: 
 

a. advised members of the reasons for proposed works to trees in City 
Council ownership and sought consent to progress the works identified at 
Appendix A  
 

b. explained that Ward Councillors had been notified of the proposed works  
 

c. stated that in some cases it was not possible to plant a tree in the exact 
location and in these cases a replacement would be replanted in the 
vicinity  
 

d. referred to an additional schedule of completed tree planting works for 
members’ information attached at Appendix B to the report.  

 
RESOLVED that the works set out in the schedule at Appendix A attached to the 
report be approved.  
 

4.  Change to Order of Business  
 

RESOLVED that the order of business be amended to allow the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan Update Report to be considered as the next agenda item, 
and the report on Land to the North of Tentercroft Street to be considered as the 
second application for development. 
 

5.  Central Lincolnshire Local Plan Update Report  
 

Toby Forbes-Turner, Principal Planning Policy Officer, presented an update to 
Planning Committee on the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan, covering the 
following main points: 
 

 The Central Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee at its meeting 
held on 24 April 2017 adopted the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan, 
together with associated policies/maps. 

 The new Central Lincolnshire Local Plan replaced the City of Lincoln Local 
Plan (1998), becoming part of the statutory development plan for the City 
alongside adopted Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plans. 

 All future planning applications in the City would be assessed by Planning 
Committee against the policies contained within the new Local Plan. 

6



 Overall, the Local Plan aimed to facilitate the sustainable growth of Central 
Lincolnshire area, whilst protecting what made Central Lincolnshire 
special. 

 By adopting the Local Plan, the City would have a clear and robust policy 
document setting out its vision, objectives, planning policies and sites for 
future growth as well as sites for protection. 

 Officers would now review all of its currently adopted Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG’s) as now the new Local Plan had been adopted 
they needed to be revoked or reviewed as soon as reasonably practical to 
do so. 

 The new Local Plan proposed 37,000 new houses to be erected across 
the Central Lincolnshire area between the years of 2012-2036. There was 
already in existence 5 years’ supply of housing land across Central 
Lincolnshire, therefore we were in a good position for robust decision 
making across the period of the plan. 

 Hard copies of the new Local Plan were expected to be ready around 26 
May 2017 for distribution to all Planning Committee members. 

 
The Chair advised that there would be a transitional period for applications to be 
assessed against the new policies in respect of those planning applications 
coming through earlier than the adoption date of the new Local Plan. 
 
Members raised queries in relation to the report which received relevant 
responses from officers as follows: 
 

 What percentage of the 37,000 new houses were planned within the city 
boundary? 

 Response: The Lincoln Strategy area (covering Lincoln and surrounding 
villages) included around 64% of the total homes and employment land 
needed, amounting to approximately 23,000 houses to be built over the 
plan period. 

 Was it possible to make hard copies of the Local Plan available on request 
as some members may prefer to access the quick link via the North 
Kesteven District Council website to acquire relevant information? 

 Response: Yes, this would not be a problem, hard copies would be 
supplied on an individual request basis only 

 Could officers give a reassurance that the character of areas such as Long 
Leys Urban Village would be safeguarded? 

 Response: The new Local Plan encompassed a broader/higher level 
document. A number of allocations in the previous plan were not in the 
new Local Plan, however, it used a raft of policies in planning balance 
determination over this wider area. The new Local Plan only listed those 
sites with 25 or more homes, however, this did not mean that 
developments of less than 25 homes could not go ahead. 

 There were large areas of land in the city such as the former Sinclair’s 
Agricultural factory ripe for development. Whose decision was it as to 
whether a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was required to 
cover certain areas? 

 Response: SPD’S related more to policy decisions. New housing schemes 
tended to be developer led rather than through development briefs. The 
number of SPD’s required was up for discussion. The City Centre 
Masterplan, although not part of formal planning policy documents could 
also be borne in mind. Policy LP35 referred to opportunity areas for new 

7



development including housing, employment and retail to act as a catalyst 
for regeneration. 

 What element of affordable homes within the new Local Plan was specified 
for new housing developments? 

 Response: Affordable housing would be sought on qualifying housing 
developments sites of 11 dwellings or more and the 25% threshold 
lowered. 

 
RESOLVED that the content of the update and members questions/comments be 
noted.   
 

6.  10-12 Lindum Terrace and 30-32 Sewell Road, Lincoln  
 

(Councillor Kirk arrived late during the discussion of this item. She sat in the 
public gallery, and took no part in the vote on the matter to be determined.) 
 
The Principal Planning Officer: 
 

a. advised that revised planning permission was sought for the following: 
 

 Creation of a new medical village, to include a flexible mix of primary 
and secondary health care services (Use Classes D1 (Non-residential 
Institutions) and C2 (Residential Institutions) of the Town and Country 
Planning Use Classes Order 1987, as amended). 

 Refurbishment, conversion and extension of Nos. 10, 11 and 12 
Lindum Terrace, including some demolition.  

 Erection of a two storey building with additional accommodation linking 
the existing buildings and under croft parking beneath.  

 Alterations to existing access to Sewell Road and Lindum Terrace. 

 Provision of parking and bicycle, motorcycle and ambulance bays; and 
associated soft and hard landscaping.  
 

b. described the application site situated in uphill Lincoln within the Lindum 
and Arboretum Conservation Area, occupying a triangular area of land at 
the corner of Sewell Road and Lindum Terrace (Sewell Road ran along the 
northern boundary of the site and Lindum Terrace the southern boundary) 
 

c. reported on the predominant character of the area being residential with 
the car parks to the hospital a shorty distance to the east and the 
Arboretum across from LIndum Terrace 
 

d. advised that the application itself was split into two distinct phases, the first 
being to renovate and extend the existing buildings and the second linking 
the two groups of buildings to house a much larger amount of floorspace, 
including a ground floor car park and servicing, with the new buildings 
being comparable in height with the existing 

 
e. provided details of the policies pertaining to the application as follows: 

 

 Policy LP1 A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
9 

 Policy LP2 The Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy 10 

 Policy LP5 Delivering Prosperity and Jobs 22 

 Policy LP9 Health and Wellbeing 31 

8



 Policy LP13 Accessibility and Transport 40 

 Policy LP14 Managing Water Resources and Flood Risk 44 

 Policy LP16 Development on Land affected by Contamination 47 

 Policy LP21 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 54 

 Policy LP25 The Historic Environment 60 

 Policy LP26 Design and Amenity 63 

 Policy LP36 Access and Movement within the Lincoln Area 85 

 The National Planning Policy Framework 
 

f. outlined the responses made to the consultation exercise 
 

g. referred members to the update sheet which contained further responses 
received in respect of the planning application 
 

h. advised members of the main issues to be considered by the application 
as follows:  
 

 The Principle of the Development; 

 The Impact of the Design of the Proposals; 

 The Implications of the Proposals upon Amenity; 

 Other Matters; and 

 The Planning Balance. 
 

i. concluded that:  
 

 The presumption in favour of sustainable development required by 
the National Planning Policy Framework would apply to the 
proposals as there would not be conflict with the three strands of 
sustainability that would apply to development as set out in the 
planning balance. Therefore, there would not be harm caused by 
approving the development.  

 As such, it was considered that the application should benefit from 
planning permission for the reasons identified in the report and 
subject to the conditions outlined within the officer’s report. 

 
Dr M Lewins, local resident, addressed Planning Committee in objection to the 
proposed development, covering the following main points: 
 

 He was a retired hospital consultant and the owner of 28 Sewell Road 

 His concerns related to Phase II of the development. 

 Concerns in relation to noise and disruption issues. 

 The proposals included 13 staff car parking spaces immediately abutting 
his property barrier wall. With staff working shifts there would be a 
minimum of 26 vehicle movements in any 6 hour period. 

 He requested that parking arrangements adjacent to his property be 
reconfigured and used instead for visitors during working hours. 

 Concerns regarding the level of noise created by air conditioning 
equipment and extractor fans required to run a hospital. 

 Intensive care climate control/ throughput to operating theatres required 
the use of plant which was extremely noisy and complex with significant 
odour, which would make his family’s life a misery should these be located 
on the north-west side of the site. 

 He requested that the siting of waste skips for general and clinical waste 
be located further away from occupied properties.  

9



 Hospital grade waste included human tissue/body parts which could only 
be removed by specialist contractors, the smallest vehicle available for this 
purpose being six feet high and 33 feet long. Vehicles entering the site 
next to his property would cause a nuisance. It was physically impossible 
to enter the existing site via the proposed entrance. 

 
Members highlighted that the application was described as a medical village, 
despite the definition by the speaker in opposition to the development referring to 
it as a hospital. Did members have enough detail before them this evening to 
make a decision on the proposed application? 
 
The Planning Manager confirmed that the description and operation of the 
development formed part of Use Class D1. The description of the development as 
a medical village had been given, therefore, this was the one officers had used. 
 
Members discussed the content of the report in further detail, making comments 
as follows: 
 

 Whatever was to be incorporated in the building would govern traffic/noise 
issues, a hospital was likely to be more problematic than an advanced GP 
facility in terms of traffic gaining access and egress.  

 A report from the Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group was required 
regarding plans for the site. 

 With the nearest bus stop being close to the Adam and Eve pub how had 
the conclusion been reached that visitors could reach this destination 
without a car /taxi? 

 Concerns that the proposal was unsustainable for the highways network in 
terms of access/congestion.  
 

A motion was moved, seconded and put to the vote that planning permission be 
deferred to allow further discussions with the applicant regarding its plans for the 
site 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be deferred to allow further discussions 
with the applicant regarding its plans for the site. 
 

7.  Land to the North of Tentercroft Street, Lincoln  
 

(Councillor Kirk took her seat as a member of Planning Committee for the 
remainder of the meeting.) 
 
The Planning Manager: 
 

a. advised that permission was sought for a 127 bedroom hotel, comprising 
60 double rooms, 61 family rooms and 6 accessible rooms, spread over 5 
floors, incorporating the entrance, a café area and various ancillary spaces 
at ground floor 
 

b. described the location of the site on the north side of Tentercroft Street, 
the area to the north of the site currently in use as the City’s temporary bus 
station, previously used as a surface car park, with commercial properties 
to the west of the site, and the High Street beyond 
 

c. highlighted that the character of Tentercroft Street had changed in recent 
months with it now forming the key east west link across this part of the 

10



city  
 

d. stated that the site adjoined the West Parade and Brayford Conservation 
Area to the West  
 

e. provided details of the policies pertaining to the application as follows: 
 

 National Planning Policy Framework  

 Policy LP25 - The Historic Environment  

 Policy LP26 – Design and Amenity  

 Policy LP29 - Protecting Lincoln’s Setting and Character 
 

f. outlined the responses made to the consultation exercise 
 

g. referred members to the update sheet which contained a further response 
received in respect of the planning application 
 

h. advised members of the main issues to be considered by the application 
as follows:  
 

 Principle of the Development and Planning Policy 

 Design and Visual Amenity 

 Neighbour Amenity 

 Highways 

 Drainage and Flood Risk  

 Archaeology 

 Noise 

 Air Quality and Sustainable Transport 

 Construction/Demolition Impacts 
 

i. concluded that:  
 

 It was considered that the proposed hotel had been well designed 
to take reference from the surrounding area whilst also being of 
modern architecture.  

 The building itself played an important function in the street scene 
and started to close the gap along the newly formed east/west link 
road.  

 The development would have no adverse impact on neighbour 
amenity and all other issues had either been resolved or could be 
resolved by the use of conditions.  

 Therefore the proposal was considered acceptable and in 
accordance with national and local planning policy.  

 
Mr Andrew Wharton, representing the Applicant, addressed Planning Committee 
in support of the proposed development, covering the following main points: 
 

 This 127 bed hotel would provide much needed accommodation in the 
City. 

 The city was short of good quality value accommodation close to public 
transport. 

 A car park was incorporated at the back of the hotel. 

 The applicant had engaged with neighbourhood managers in terms of 
employment availability. 

11



 The applicant had worked collaboratively with planning officers. 

 The scheme had been carefully scrutinised and changes made to the 
proposals accordingly. 

 This was modern build but sympathetic with the Victorian style of adjacent 
properties. 

 The mass of the building incorporated a change in brick colour to enable it 
to appear as a series of vertical blocks, in keeping with the pattern of 
Victorian style development in the streetscene. 

 Windows would be recessed to give depth to the elevation. 

 High quality robust materials would be used, predominantly brick. 

 Impact upon views from uphill had been considered and were not 
detrimental.  

 All statutory consultees had been contacted. 

 It was hoped to commence building in November 2017 and to open the 
doors to the hotel in November 2018. 

 This development represented a catalyst for future development in the 
East/West Link area. 

 
Members discussed the content of the report in further detail, raising individual 
comments as follows: 
 

 The increase in the number of hotels built in the city added more pressure 
on its infrastructure. 

 The development was likely to impose an impact on the new relief road 
which was likely to become yet another traffic problem. 

 There were already traffic flow problems along the new relief road with 
stop/start traffic lights along its course. 

 The hotel would set a precedent for future development in the area. It 
would be good to strive for a higher standard here. 

 A more sustainable position should be chosen to site the new hotel. 

 Issues of scale and massing. 

 Insufficient car parking provision within the development. 
 

Other members offered their support to the development as follows: 
 

 This was a value hotel which fitted into the street scene. 

 The site chosen was an ideal location on a new relief road. 

 The design was better compared to similar hotels in other cities. 

 The hotel would be functional. 

 Not all buildings along that road needed to be Victorian style. 

 The hotel would make the area more vibrant. 
 

The Planning Manager offered the following points of clarification to members: 
 

 Planning regulations required that specific styles of buildings should not be 
imposed in one area, however, they should be appropriate in scale and 
proportion.  

 The recessed windows negotiated with the applicant offered a better ‘solid 
to void’ ratio to the building which was an improvement. 

 The structure would be brick-built which stood the test of time. 

 The buildings height would not impact on wider conservation area views 
from the east/north. 

 Each planning application along the new relief road would be considered 
on an individual basis and on its own merits. 

12



 Changes had been made to the design in terms of ground floor activity to 
avoid closed blinds, instead providing views/reception areas and a café to 
give greater animation to the streetscene. 

 Traffic issues were common and not unique to Lincoln. 

 The temporary bus station on Tentercroft Street would return to a car park 
once the Transport Hub project was complete. The hotel was also situated 
close to the railway station. 

 Any issues raised as a result of the development were not of sufficient 
weight to warrant refusal of planning permission. 

 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

 Development to commence within 3 years 

 Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans  

 Samples of materials  

 Details of glazing and ventilation  

 Contaminated land  

 Electric vehicle charge points 

 Construction management plan  
 

8.  128-130 Carholme Road, Lincoln  
 

The Principal Planning Officer: 
 

a. requested outline planning permission for the erection of 14 apartments on 
land currently occupied by the commercial building trading as Jack Machin 
Motorcycles at 128-130 Carholme Road, the site situated on the southern 
side of the road on the corner with Derwent Street 
 

b. stated that the application was only for the means of access to be 
considered but would include provision for 14 car parking spaces with 
vehicular access taken from Derwent Street, adjacent to No. 1. 
 

c. advised that the application suggested that the proposed apartments 
would not be occupied by students. 
 

d. provided details of the policies pertaining to the application as follows: 
 

 Policy LP1 A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 Policy LP2 The Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy 

 Policy LP3 Level and Distribution of Growth 

 Policy LP9 Health and Wellbeing 

 Policy LP12 Infrastructure to Support Growth 

 Policy LP13 Accessibility and Transport 

 Policy LP14 Managing Water Resources and Flood Risk 

 Policy LP16 Development on Land Affected by Contamination 

 Policy LP24 Creation of New Open Space, Sports and Recreation 
Facilities 

 Policy LP26 Design and Amenity 

 Policy LP36 Access and Movement within the Lincoln Area 

 National Planning Policy Framework  
 

e. outlined the responses made to the consultation exercise 
13



 
f. referred members to the update sheet which contained an additional 

response received and a further update in relation to the archaeology of 
the site  

 
g. advised members of the main issues to be considered by the application 

as follows:  
 

 The Application of Policies in the New Local Plan; 

 The Principle of the Development; 

 The Impact of the Design of the Proposals; 

 The Implications of the Proposals upon Amenity; 

 Other Matters; and 

 The Planning Balance. 
 

h. concluded that:  
 

 The presumption in favour of sustainable development required by 
the National Planning Policy Framework would apply to the 
proposals as there would not be conflict with the three strands of 
sustainability that would apply to development as set out in the 
planning balance. Therefore, there would not be harm caused by 
approving the development.  

 As such, it was considered that the application should benefit from 
planning permission for the reasons identified in the report and 
subject to the conditions outlined within the officer’s report; and the 
s106 agreement for the non-occupation of the development by 
students and the payments towards offsite provision of playing  
 

Members discussed the content of the report in further detail, raising individual 
questions as follows: 
 

 Question: Was outline planning permission being sought for 14 
apartments regardless of the height/dominance of the area? 

 Officer Response: Essentially agreement was sought in principle for 14 
units with a point of access, further detail would come before Planning 
Committee for consent at reserved matters stage. Any potential impact 
on massing was less than the previous scheme granted in December 
2015. Officers were satisfied that 14 apartments could be comfortably 
accommodated on site. 

 Question: Did 4.1 metres represent the standard width access for 
emergency vehicles? 

 Officer Response: 4.1 metres was sufficient width to work successfully, 
a number of schemes with access at 3.5 metres operated without 
issues. The width of access was not fixed at this stage, and would be 
dealt with at reserved matters layout. 

 Question: There was potential for each flat to own two cars. Could an 
assurance be given that residents parking passes would not be issued 
to the residents of this development which would exasperate parking 
issues? 

 Officer Response: Should members be so minded a condition could be 
imposed on the grant of planning permission to prevent residents 
parking passes being issued to residents of the new scheme. Planning 

14



officers would investigate further enforceable options with car parking 
services. 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1. Authority be delegated to the Planning Manager to assess an updated 
Desk Based Assessment in relation to the archaeological input of 
developing the site and to grant outline planning permission only when the 
DBA met the requirements of policy and subject to any necessary 
planning conditions covering archaeological works on site.  
 

2. In addition, authority would also cover the signing of the s106 Agreement 
for the non-occupation of the development by students and the payments 
towards offsite provision of playing fields and play space. 

 
3. In addition discussions be held by planning officers with Car Parking 

Services regarding enforceable options for restricting residents parking for 
occupants of the scheme.  

(Councillor Bean to be included in this communication.)  
 

4. The development be granted only subject to these matters and planning 
conditions covering the matters listed below:- 

 

 Timeframe of the application (for outline permission); 

 Requirements of Reserved Matters; 

 Maximum of 14 apartments; 

 Highway Accesses Closed and Parking Provided; 

 Surface water drainage scheme for the development (but no 
infiltration drainage); 

 Finished Floor Levels (flood risk); 

 Archaeology; 

 Contaminated Land; 

 Waste management; 

 Construction of the development (delivery times and working 
hours); and 

 Electric Vehicle Recharging. 
 

9.  50 Eastbrook Road, Lincoln  
 

The Planning Manager: 
 

a. requested planning permission to erect a single storey rear extension with 
associated patio doors to the rear at this detached bungalow containing 
dormer windows in the roof 
 

b. advised that the application was being presented to Members of the 
Planning Committee due to the applicant being a member of staff at the 
City of Lincoln Council and planning permission was required as the height 
of the extension exceeded the properties permitted development 
allowance of 4 metres in height 

 
c. provided details of the policies pertaining to the application as follows: 

 

 Policy 34: Design and Amenity Standards 

15



 Policy 64: House Extensions, Domestic Garages and other 
Developments within the Curtilage of a Dwelling 

 National Planning Policy Framework  

 Policy LP26: Design and Amenity 63 
 

d. outlined the responses made to the consultation exercise 
 

e. advised members of the main issues to be considered by the application 
as follows:  
 

 Visual Amenity 

 Residential Amenity 

 Highways Safety 
 

f. concluded that the proposed single storey rear extension and garage 
would not be harmful to the residential amenity of neighbouring properties 
or the visual amenity of the wider area in accordance with Policy 34 and 64 
of the City of Lincoln Local Plan, Policy LP26 of the Central Lincolnshire 
Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Members discussed the content of the report in further detail. 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
Standard Conditions  
 
01) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three 
years beginning with the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
02) With the exception of the detailed matters referred to by the conditions of 
this consent, the development hereby approved shall be carried out in 
accordance with the drawings listed within Table A below. 
 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the details shown on the 
approved plans and in any other approved documents forming part of the 
application. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development proceeds in accordance with the approved 
plans. 
 
Conditions to be discharged before commencement of works 
 
None. 
 
Conditions to be discharged before use is implemented 

 
None. 

 
Conditions to be adhered to at all times 

 
None. 
 

16



Table A 
 
The above recommendation has been made in accordance with the submitted 
drawings identified below: 

 

Drawing No. Version Drawing Type Date Received 

TW/0103/17  Plans - Proposed 28th March 2017 

 
10.  Dial A Ride, Bus Station, Melville Street, Lincoln  

 
The Planning Manager: 
 

a. requested planning permission for the construction of an office unit within 
the foot print of the previously consented multi-storey car park under 
application 2016/0222/F. 
 

b. reported on the existing location of the Dial-a-Ride facility immediately 
north of the Transport Hub site within the area of the existing Co-op 
service yard, a new kiosk had previously been consented under the 
Transport Hub scheme currently underway on site and permission was 
now sought to increase the internal area of the kiosk to enable the Dial-a-
Ride facility to be incorporated in the north west corner within the ground 
floor of the Multi-Storey Car Park 
 

c. confirmed that the application was made by the Council and therefore 
before Planning Committee for determination. 
 

d. provided details of the policies pertaining to the application as follows: 
 

 National Planning Policy Framework 

 Central Lincolnshire Local Plan Policy LP26: Design and Amenity 
 

e. outlined the responses made to the consultation exercise 
 

f. referred members to the update sheet which contained an additional 
response received in relation to the planning application 

 
g. advised members of the main issue to be considered by the application as 

to whether the proposed kiosk would have any adverse visual impacts  
 

h. concluded that the proposed development would have no adverse impact 
on visual amenity and would be in keeping with the overall design of the 
approved car park and in keeping with Policy LP26 of the Local Plan.   

 
Members discussed the content of the report in further detail. 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions:  
 

 Development to commence within 3 years 

 Development to be carried out in accordance with the plans  
 

17



This page is intentionally blank.



PLANNING COMMITTEE              21 JUNE 2017  
 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
WORK TO TREES IN CITY COUNCIL OWNERSHIP 

REPORT BY: 
 

DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT 

LEAD OFFICER STEVE BIRD – ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (COMMUNITIES & 
STREET SCENE) 
 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To advise Members of the reasons for proposed works to trees in City Council 

ownership, and to seek consent to progress the works identified. 
 

1.2 This list does not represent all the work undertaken to Council trees. It is all the 
instances where a tree is either identified for removal, or where a tree enjoys 
some element of protection under planning legislation, and thus formal consent 
is required. 
 

2. Background 
 

2.1 In accordance with the accepted policy, Committee’s views are sought in respect 
of proposed works to trees in City Council ownership, see Appendix A. 
 

2.2 The responsibility for the management of any given tree is determined by the 
ownership responsibilities of the land on which it stands. Trees within this 
schedule are therefore on land owned by the Council, with management 
responsibilities distributed according to the purpose of the land. 
 

3. Tree Assessment 
 

3.1 All tree cases are brought to this committee only after careful consideration and 
assessment by the Council’s Arboricultural Officer (together with independent 
advice where considered appropriate). 
 

3.2 All relevant Ward Councillors are notified of the proposed works for their 
respective wards prior to the submission of this report.                                  

3.3 Although the Council strives to replace any tree that has to be removed, in some 
instances it is not possible or desirable to replant a tree in either the exact 
location or of the same species. In these cases a replacement of an appropriate 
species is scheduled to be planted in an appropriate location within the vicinity. 
Tree planting is normally scheduled for the winter months following the removal. 
 

4. Resource Implications 

4.1 i) Finance 
 

The costs of any tree works arising from this report will be borne by the existing 
budgets. There are no other financial implications, capital or revenue.  
 

19

Item No. 3



4.2 ii) Staffing   N/A 
  

4.3 iii) Property/Land/ Accommodation Implications      N/A 
 

4.4 iv) Procurement 
      
All works arising from this report are undertaken by the Council’s grounds 
maintenance contractor. The contractor was appointed after an extensive 
competitive tendering exercise, ensuring that staff are all suitably trained, 
qualified, and experienced. The contract for this work was let in April 2006. 
 

5. Policy Implications 
 

5.1 (i) Strategic Priority                       N/A 
 

5.2 (ii) S.17 Crime and Disorder         N/A 
 

5.3 (iii) Equality and Diversity             N/A 
 

5.4 (iv) Environmental Sustainability   
  
The Council acknowledges the importance of trees and tree planting to the 
environment and its biodiversity objectives. Replacement trees are routinely 
scheduled wherever a tree has to be removed, in-line with Council policy.  
 

5.5 (v) Community Engagement/Communication   N/A 
 

6. Consultation and Communication     
  

6.1 All ward Councillors are informed of proposed works on this schedule, which are 
within their respective ward boundaries. 
 

6.2 The relevant portfolio holders are advised in advance in all instances where, in 
the judgement of officers, the matters arising within the report are likely to be 
sensitive or contentious. 
 

7. Legal Implications 
 

7.1 (i) Legal 
 

The City Council has a legal obligation to ensure that trees in Council                
ownership are maintained in a safe condition. Trees may be protected by the law 
in certain instances. Situations where this applies are normally in relation to 
planning legislation covering Conservation Areas, and Tree Preservation Orders. 
Where there is legal protection for a tree or trees, this is identified clearly in the 
appendices. 
 

7.2 (ii) Contractual     
 

See 4.4 above. 
 

 

20



8. Assessment of Options 
 

8.1 (i) Key Issues      
 
The work identified on the attached schedule represents the Arboricultural 
Officers advice to the Council relevant to the specific situation identified. This is 
a balance of assessment pertaining to the health of the tree, its environment, 
and any legal or health and safety concerns. In all instances the protection of 
the public is taken as paramount. Deviation from the recommendations for any 
particular situation may carry ramifications. These can be outlined by the 
Arboricultural Officer pertinent to any specific case.  
 

8.2 (ii)  Risk Assessment  
 
Where appropriate, the recommended actions within the schedule have been 
subject to a formal risk assessment. Failure to act on the recommendations of 
the Arboricultural Officer could leave the Council open to allegations that it has 
not acted responsibly in the discharge of its legal responsibilities. 
 

9. Recommendation 
 

9.1 That the works set out in the attached schedules be approved. 
 

Access to Information: 
Does the report contain 
exempt information, which 
would prejudice the public 
interest requirement if it 
was publicised? 
 

 
No 

Key Decision No 
 

Key Decision Reference 
No. 
 

                                           N/A 

Do the Exempt 
Information Categories 
Apply 
 

No 

Call In and Urgency: I s 
the decision one to which 
Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules apply? 
 

 
No 

List of Background 
Papers: 
 

                                Section file        Te 623 

Lead Officer:  Mr S. Bird,  
Assistant Director (Communities & Street Scene) 
Telephone 873421 
 

 
 
 
 

21



 
NOTIFICATION OF INTENDED WORK TO TREES AND HEDGES 

RELEVANT TO THEIR CITY COUNCIL OWNERSHIP STATUS. 
SCHEDULE No 6 / SCHEDULE DATE: 21/06/17 

 
 

Item 
No 

Status 
e.g. 
CAC 

Specific 
Location  

Tree Species 
and description 
/ reasons for 
work / Ward. 
 

Recommendation 

1 N/A Boultham Park 
Allotment A, 
adjacent to northern 
boundary. 

Boultham Ward 
3 Lombardy Poplars. 
Felled as they had 
decay of the main 
stem and some crown 
dieback. 
(Retrospective 
notification. Felled to 
ensure public safety). 
 

Approve and replant with 3 
Oaks in a suitable location. 

2 N/A Rear garden of 32 
Hazelwood Avenue 

Birchwood Ward 
2 Cypress and 1 
Cherry. 
Fell to prevent 
damage to property 
and as part of garden 
improvements. 
 

Approve and replant with 3 
Cherry trees in a suitable 

location. 

3 N/A Jasmin Road Open 
Space. Tree belt to 
rear of Alness Close 
flats. 
 

Birchwood Ward 
174 self-set scrub and 
trees comprising of 
Elder, Hawthorn and 
Sycamore. 
Fell, to establish an 
approximate 2.5 
metres wide gap 
between the 
established woodland 
belt and the rear 
garden fence lines. 
The aim is to reduce 
anti-social behaviour 
and fly tipping, allow 
construction of new 
fences, improve 
security for residents 
and facilitate regular 
grass maintenance All 
as part of a local 
housing improvements 
initiative by the 
Housing Department. 
 

Approve and replant with 
47 Oaks and 23 Birches 
and 30 Field Maples in 
suitable locations within 

Jasmin Road Open Space. 
All as allocated for works 
to rear of Cosford Close 

and Andover Close. 

22



4 N/A Long Leys Road 
Allotments, Plot 64 
adjacent to access 
driveway. 
 

Carholme Ward 
1 Lombardy Poplar. 
Felled, due to root 
plate failure during 
high winds. 
(Retrospective 
notification. Felled to 
ensure public safety). 
 

Approve and replant with 1 
Oak in a suitable location. 

5 TPO Land adjacent to 2 
Shearwater Road. 

Hartsholme Ward 
1 Beech. 
Crown lift to 5.2 
metres and prune 
back branches 
overhanging garden. 
 

Approve 

6 TPO Swanholme Lakes 
land adjacent to 56 
Anderby Drive. 
 

Hartsholme Ward 
4 Oaks and 1 Birch 
Fell, the trees are 
suppressed. 
 

Approve and replant with 4 
Oaks and 1 Birch in an 
appropriate location. 

7 N/A Hartsholme Country 
Park on the west 
bank of the lake and 
to the north of White 
Bridge. 

Hartsholme Ward 
1 Beech 
Fell, the tree has 
severe decay of the 
main stem. 
 

Approve and replant with a 
Beech. 

8 N/A Front garden of 35 
Redbourne Drive 

MInster Ward 
1 Sycamore 
Fell, the tree is 
suppressed by 
adjacent Ash tree and 
as part of garden 
improvements. 
 

Approve and replant with a 
Field Maple in a suitable 

location. 

9 N/A Rear garden of 7 
Constable Close 
 

Moorland Ward 
Cypress hedge. 
Fell as part of the 
garden improvements. 
 

Approve. 

10 N/A Front garden of 69 
Westwick Gardens. 

Moorland Ward 
1 twin-stemmed Birch 
and 1 Cherry. 
Fell as part of garden 
improvements and to 
enable repair works. 
 

Approve and replant with a 
Birch and a Cherry in a 

suitable location. 

     

 

23



This page is intentionally blank.



Application Number: 2017/0096/OUT 

Site Address: Land Bounded By Rope Walk, High Street, Firth Road and 
Beevor Street, Lincoln.  

Target Date: 5th May 2017 

Agent Name: Montagu Evans 

Applicant Name: Standard Life Investments 

Proposal: Comprehensive redevelopment comprising a retail-led 
mixed-use scheme to include demolition of existing buildings 
and other structures, alterations to existing retail buildings, 
engineering works (including alterations to river bank) and 
construction of new buildings and structures to provide up to 
32,940 sqm (GIA) of retail (Class A1), up to 7,666 sqm GIA of 
restaurants and cafes, drinking establishments and hot food 
takeaways (Class A3-A5) , up to 150 residential units (Class 
C3), up to 21,006 sqm (GIA) of purpose built student 
accommodation (up to 1,100 units) (sui generis use) , up to 
3,622 sqm (GIA) of leisure floorspace (Class D2), up to 3,299 
sqm (GIA) of hotel providing up to 130 rooms (Class C1), 
together with ancillary and associated development including 
new and enhanced pedestrian routes and vehicle access 
routes, works to the existing bridge over the River Witham, 
open spaces, hard and soft landscaping, a multi-storey car 
park providing up to 1,100 car parking spaces, motorcycle 
parking spaces, energy centres, up to 823 cycle parking 
spaces and servicing facilities [OUTLINE] 

 
Background - Site Location and Description 
 
Site Location 
 
The application site is situated to the north of Firth Road / Beevor Street, to the east of 
Tritton Road, to the south of Rope Walk / St. Mark Street and to the west of the High 
Street. It is bisected by the River Witham but connected by a bridge within the site. There 
are also three other bridges adjacent to the application site, comprising a wooden 
footbridge to the south; the Firth Road steel bridge to the south; and the Rope Walk bridge 
to the north. 
 
The application site is irregular in shape and occupies the existing St Marks Retail Park 
and part of the Shopping Centre, which comprises a mixture of retail and food and 
beverage uses with associated car parking, at grade and multi-storey. 
 
A row of terraced houses and a small triangular shaped plot of disused land border the 
application site’s southern corner. 
 
The main vehicular access is from a traffic light controlled intersection off Rope Walk, with 
the east-west spine road terminating at St Marks Square. Service yard accesses are 
provide on Rope Walk and on Firth Road. Units along the eastern boundary are accessed 
directly from the High Street. Surfaced and decked car parking on-site currently totals 890 
spaces. 
 
 
 

25

Item No. 4a



Description of Development 
 
The application is for outline planning permission with details of access for consideration 
and includes proposals for:- 
 

 Demolition of existing buildings and other structures, with the exception of one 
building, amounting to 15,398 sq m GIA (14,912 sq m GIA of retail floorspace and 
food and beverage uses to 486 sq m GIA); 

 Engineering works including earthworks; 

 Alterations to one existing building; and 

 Construction of new buildings and structures to provide: 

 up to 150 residential units (13,049 m2 Gross External Area (GEA)) (Use Class 
C3); 

 up to 1,100 student units (29,700 m2 GEA) (21,006 m2 Gross Internal Area 
(GIA)) (Sui Generis Use); 

 a hotel providing up to 130 rooms (4,713 m2 GEA) (3,299 m2 GIA) (Use Class 
C1); 

 up to 34,587 m2 (GEA) (32,940 m2 GIA) of retail (Use Class A1); 

 up to 8,049 m2 GEA (7,666 m2 GIA) of restaurants and cafes, drinking 
establishments and hot food takeaways (Use Class A3-A5); 

 up to 3,803 m2 GEA (3,622 m2 GIA) of leisure floorspace (Use Class D2); 

 Construction of a multi-storey car park providing up to 1,100 spaces, vehicular 
access and servicing facilities; and 

 Ancillary and associated development including new and enhanced pedestrian 
realm, landscaping and, works to the existing bridge over the River Witham. 

 
The uplift in floor space will be as follows:- 
 

Use Class Existing 

sq m 

Proposed 

sq m 

Change 

sq m 

A1 14,912 32,940 + 18,028 

A3 – A5 486 7,666 + 7,180 

D2 1,532 3,622 + 2,090 

Total 16,930 44,228 +27,298 

 
The structural frame and ground floor slab of the retail warehouse units situated to the 
existing southern terrace on the west side of St Marks would be re-used and extended to 
create one side of a new retail street. Opposite would be a new building incorporating a 
multi-storey car park, a department anchor store (circa 10,000 sq m GIA) and further retail 
and restaurant units. 
 
Meanwhile, to the eastern side of the river in the existing shopping centre, there would be 
partial redevelopment with Debenhams and the shops leading to the High Street being 
retained. However, the existing multi-storey car park and other buildings including Mama’s 
& Papa’s, Multiyork and Pure Gym would be demolished to create new blocks with retail 
and restaurants at ground floor and residential above; and further south, retail and 
restaurants at ground floor and leisure above. 
 
Notwithstanding this, the detailed layout, scale, appearance and landscaping of the 

26



proposed development would be subject to a subsequent application for Reserved 
Matters. Accordingly, for these matters, maximum parameters have been set for the 
proposed development within which the reserved matters would be brought forward. 
These include:- 
 

 Maximum footprints and building lines; 

 Maximum building heights (together with proposed site levels); 

 Maximum floor space areas for each land use; 

 Access and circulation; 

 Maximum parking spaces; and 

 Public realm and landscaping. 
 
A set of Parameter Plans and Schedules (covering floor space areas and indicative unit 
and tenure mix); a Parameters Report (in which the development commitments are 
contained); and Design Codes (in which the key controlling design commitments are 
contained) have been used as the basis of the Environmental Statement submitted with 
the application. Together, these define the overall quantum (maximum floor space and 
maximum height) and nature of development and provide a controlling set of design codes 
and principles in relation to each plot and block, as well as routes and spaces, street 
widths, residential unit numbers and mix, within which the reserved matters would be 
brought forward. 
 
In terms of the parameter plan for landscaping and public realm for the site, it provides for 
the following key structuring elements: 
 

 Two new public squares to the east and west of the river; 

 Retention of the existing link to the High Street and a clear new pedestrian route 
connecting the High Street to Tritton Road in the west; 

 Widening of walkways along the river corridor, including enhancement of the 
existing cycleway; 

 Shared gardens and courtyards for both private residential and student 
accommodation; 

 Public gardens/nature areas adjacent to the eastern boundary of Block 05; 

 Retention of the existing river flood zone; and 

 Biodiverse roofs to a minimum of 5% of the total roof area for the proposed 
development. 

 
Case Officer Site Visit 
 
Undertaken on 07/06/2017. 
 
Policies Referred to 
 
Policy LP1 A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Policy LP2 The Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy 
Policy LP3 Level and Distribution of Growth 
Policy LP5 Delivering Prosperity and Jobs 
Policy LP6 Retail and Town Centres in Central Lincolnshire 
Policy LP7 A Sustainable Visitor Economy 
Policy LP9 Health and Wellbeing 
Policy LP11 Affordable Housing 
Policy LP12 Infrastructure to Support Growth 

27



Policy LP13 Accessibility and Transport 
Policy LP14 Managing Water Resources and Flood Risk 
Policy LP16 Development on Land Affected by Contamination 
Policy LP17 Landscape, Townscape and Views 
Policy LP21 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy LP24 Creation of New Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities 
Policy LP25 The Historic Environment 
Policy LP26 Design and Amenity 
Policy LP29 Protecting Lincoln’s Setting and Character 
Policy LP31 Lincoln’s Economy 
Policy LP33 Lincoln's City Centre Primary Shopping Area and Central Mixed Use Area 
Policy LP36 Access and Movement within the Lincoln Area 
Policy LP37 Sub-division and multi-occupation of dwellings within Lincoln 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
Issues 
 
In this instance the main issues relevant to the consideration of the application are as 
follows: 
 

1. The Application of Policies in the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan; 
2. Environmental Impact Assessment; 
3. The Principle of the Development; 
4. Affordable Housing and Contributions to Service Provision; 
5. The Impact of the Design of the Proposals; 
6. The Implications of the Proposals upon Amenity; 
7. Other Matters; and 
8. The Planning Balance. 

 
Consultations 
 
Consultations were carried out in accordance with the Statement of Community 
Involvement, adopted May 2014.  
 
Statutory Consultation Responses 
 

Consultee Comment  

 
Anglian Water 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Canal & River Trust 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Environment Agency 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Lincolnshire Police 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Natural England 

 
Comments Received 
 

28



 
Lincoln Civic Trust 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Secretary Of State For 
Communities And Local 
Government 

 
No Response Received 
 

 
Historic England 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Upper Witham, Witham First 
District & Witham Third 
District 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Highways & Planning 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Public Consultation Responses 
 

Name Address  

Lincolnshire Co-operative Ltd C/o Lichfields                  

Cushman And Wakefield St Paul's House 
23 Park Square South 
Leeds 
LS1 2ND 
                                                                             

Mr Andrew McDaid 2 Beevor Street 
Lincoln 
LN6 7AD                                                        

Peter And Patricia Stimson   

Mr Andrew McDaid 2 Beevor Street 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN6 7AD 
                                                

Paul Wheatley Group Manager Economic Development 
Lincolnshire County Council 
Unit 4, Witham Park House,  
Waterside South, 
Lincoln, LN5 7JN                                                        

Mr Jonathan Haw 53 Richmond Road 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN1 1LH 
  

Mr Gavin Gatliffe    

Miss Clare Sterling Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust 
Banovallum House, Manor House Street 
Horncastle 
LN9 5HF  

29



Mr Tim Waring Quod 
Capitol 
Bond Court 
Leeds 
LS1 5SP  

Mr Paul Ostafiehyk 7 Raglan House 
Ruston Way 
Lincoln 
LN6 7FP 

 
Consideration 
 
1) The Application of Policies in the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 
 
Due to the adoption of the new Central Lincolnshire Local Plan certain policies relevant to 
the development of this site previously considered in the 1998 Local Plan are no longer 
applicable. However, in the interests of fairness to applicants, the Council’s within Central 
Lincolnshire have decided not to strictly apply those policies for applications received 
before the adoption date where doing so would lead to a materials change in 
circumstances. In particular, officers will not be strictly enforcing the requirement of 
developers to contribute a greater amount of affordable housing on the site. As such, 
Policy LP11 will not be applied to this application. In addition, officers will also not be 
seeking contributions from developers in relation to health provision for such applications. 
As such, Policies LP9 and LP12 will not be applied in this respect. 
 
2) Environmental Impact Assessment 
 
The Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) is governed by the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended 2015) (‘The 
EIA Regulations’). These regulations apply the requirements of the Environmental Impact 
Assessment Directive “on the assessment of the effects of certain public and private 
projects on the environment” to the planning system in England. It aims to ensure that any 
significant effects arising from a development are identified, assessed and presented to 
help Local Planning Authorities, statutory consultees and other key stakeholders in their 
understanding of the impacts arising from development. 
 
This assessment has been undertaken through the submission of an Environmental 
Statement (ES) which addresses a number of environmental issues, the scope of which 
was agreed on 26 October 2016 by the LPA. The ES covers the following chapters: 
 

 Demolition and Construction Environmental Management; 

 Socio-Economics; 

 Archaeology; 

 Transport & Accessibility; 

 Air Quality; 

 Noise and Vibration; 

 Ecology; 

 Water Resources; 

 Wind Microclimate; 

 Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing and Solar Glare; 

 Cumulative Effects; 

30



 Summary of Residual Effects. 
 
Officers are satisfied that the information contained and the methods adopted within the 
ES meets the necessary requirements prescribed within the regulations. The majority of 
the impacts are negligible, minor or moderate with a range of mitigation and environmental 
enhancement measures identified throughout the process which are capable of forming 
planning conditions which would mitigate against any potential impacts of the scheme. 
 
3) The Principle of the Development  

 
a) Relevant Planning Policies 
 
i) Sustainable Development and the Proposed Uses 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70(2) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) is a material 
consideration in determining planning applications. Framework paragraph 215 indicates 
that due weight should be given to relevant policies in the development plan according to 
their consistency with the Framework i.e. the closer the policies in the plan to the policies 
in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given. 
 
The development plan comprises the recently adopted Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (the 
Plan) and during its examination the policies therein were tested for their compliance with 
the Framework. 
 
Paragraph 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) outlines the 
following in relation to the principle of development:  
 
"At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through both 
plan making and decision taking. 
 
For decision taking this means (unless material considerations indicate otherwise): 
 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay; and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 
granting permission unless: 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole; or 

 specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.  
 
In terms of sustainable development, Paragraph 7 of the Framework suggests that there 
are three dimensions: economic, social and environmental. “These dimensions give rise to 
the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles: 
 

 an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 

31



places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure; 

 a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; 
and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that 
reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; 
and 

 an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built 
and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use 
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt 
to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.” 

 
Meanwhile, at the heart of the Core Planning Principles within the Framework (Paragraph 
17) is the expectation that planning should:- 
 

“proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver the 
homes, business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places that the 
country needs. Every effort should be made objectively to identify and then meet the 
housing, business and other development needs of an area, and respond positively 
to wider opportunities for growth” 

 
Turning to Local Plan Policy, Policy LP1 of the Plan supports this approach and advocates 
that proposals that accord with the Plan should be approved, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
In terms of the spatial dimension of sustainability, proposals need to demonstrate that they 
contribute to the creation of a strong, cohesive and inclusive community, making use of 
previously developed land and enable larger numbers of people to access jobs, services 
and facilities locally, whilst not affecting the delivery of allocated sites and strengthening 
the role of Lincoln (Policy LP2). Meanwhile, Policy LP3 sets out how growth would be 
prioritised and Lincoln is the main focus for urban regeneration; and Policy LP5 supports 
the growth of job creating development which also supports economic prosperity but only 
where proposals have considered suitable allocated sites or buildings or within the built up 
area of the settlement; and the scale of what is proposed is commensurate with its 
location. 
 
The relatively recent adoption of the Local Plan ensures that there is a very clear picture of 
the options for growth in Central Lincolnshire. The Local Plan also adheres to the 
requirements of Paragraph 23 of the Framework, which sets out what Local Planning 
Authorities should include in Local Plans in order to ensure the vitality of town centres.  
 
The Framework sets out when a Sequential Test and Impact Assessment is required 
(Paragraphs 24-27) and this is clarified in Policy LP6 of the Plan, whereby local floor space 
thresholds are derived from evidence contained in the Central Lincolnshire City and Town 
Centre Study. 
 
Policy LP6 therefore sets out the approach to town centres uses and defines the Primary 
Shopping Area. Policy LP33 supports Policy LP6 and suggests that this will remain the 
main focus of “comparison” shopping in Lincoln and Policy LP6 then goes on to clarify that 
retail and other town centre uses should be “appropriate in scale and nature to the size 
and function of the relevant centre”. 
 

32



Policy LP33 sets out the mix of uses that would be supported within these areas, including 
shops (A1); offices used by the public (A2); Food and Drink Outlets (A3, A4 and A5); 
houses and flats (C3); hotels (C1); student halls of residence and theatres. It suggests that 
a mixture of these uses should not detract from the vitality and viability of the Primary 
Shopping Area. Conversely, the aim should be to “add to the overall vitality of the area and 
to create a purpose and presence extending beyond normal shopping hours.” This would 
be through the inclusion of significant elements of housing, which would accord with 
Paragraph 23 of the Framework. 
 
There is also an expectation that these area would contain active ground floor uses within 
the Primary and Secondary Shopping Frontages, including leisure uses. This approach is 
reinforced by Policy LP7 (A Sustainable Visitor Economy), which suggests that “culture 
and leisure facilities, sporting attractions and accommodation” will be supported subject to 
four criteria related to their impact upon their context. A Lincoln context is also presented 
at Policy LP31 which supports its destination for tourism and leisure; and status as 
provider for retail services. 
 
ii) Sustainable Access, Highway Safety and Traffic Capacity  
 
The impacts of growth are enshrined in the Core Planning Principles of the Framework 
(Paragraph 17), which expects planning to actively manage this growth “to make the fullest 
possible use of public transport, walking and cycling, and focus significant development in 
locations which are or can be made sustainable”. As such, Paragraph 35 requires that: 
“developments should be located and designed where practical to [amongst other things] 
give priority to pedestrian and cycle movements, and have access to high quality public 
transport facilities; and should be located and designed where practical to create safe and 
secure layouts which minimise conflicts between traffic and cyclists or pedestrians, 
avoiding street clutter and where appropriate establishing home zones". 
 
A number of Local Plan Policies are relevant to the access, parking and highway design of 
proposals. In particular, the key points of Policy LP13 are that “all developments should 
demonstrate, where appropriate, that they have had regard to the following criteria: 
 
a) Located where travel can be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes 

maximised; 
b) Minimise additional travel demand through the use of measures such as travel 

planning, safe and convenient public transport, walking and cycling links and 
integration with existing infrastructure; 

c) Should provide well designed, safe and convenient access for all, giving priority to 
the needs of pedestrians, cyclists, people with impaired mobility and users of public 
transport by providing a network of pedestrian and cycle routes and green corridors, 
linking to existing routes where opportunities exist, that give easy access and 
permeability to adjacent areas” 

 
There are also transport measures referred to in Policy LP36, which more specifically 
refers to development in the ‘Lincoln Area’, the key measures add to and reinforce the 
criteria within Policies LP5 and LP13. As such, they are intended to reduce the impact 
upon the local highway network and improve opportunities for modal shift away from the 
private car. In particular, development should support the East West Link in order to 
reduce congestion, improve air quality and encourage regeneration; and improve 
connectivity by means of transport other than the car. Similarly, Policy LP33 also requires 
that developments do not result in “levels of traffic or on-street parking which would cause 

33



either road safety or amenity problems.” Moreover, the policy also highlights the 
importance of providing appropriate parking for vehicles and cycles for all users within 
developments; and that walking and cycling links are maintained and promoted. 
 
Paragraph 32 of the Framework suggests that the residual cumulative impacts of the 
development would need to be severe for proposals to warrant refusal. This is reinforced 
by Policy LP13 of the Local Plan which suggests that only proposals that would have 
“severe transport implications will not be granted planning permission unless deliverable 
mitigation measures have been identified, and arrangements secured for their 
implementation, which will make the development acceptable in transport terms.” 
 
iii) Air Quality 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF introduces the section in relation to the conservation and 
enhancement of the natural environment. Given that the site is located adjacent within the 
Air Quality Management Areas (declared by the Council due to the likely exceedance of 
the national air quality objectives for nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter), this section 
of the NPPF should be given great weight. It states that “the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by…preventing both new and 
existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being 
adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability”. 
 
Paragraph 120 sets the scene and refers to development being “appropriate for its 
location”. It goes on to say that “the effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on 
health, the natural environment or general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the area 
or proposed development to adverse effects from pollution, should be taken into account.” 
Paragraph 124 refers in more detail to the implications of the location of development 
within an Air Quality Management Area and requires that “planning decisions should 
ensure that any new development in Air Quality Management Areas is consistent with the 
local air quality action plan”. 
 
Meanwhile, Local Plan Policy LP13 also refers to air quality and requires that “all 
developments should demonstrate, where appropriate, that they…ensure allowance is 
made for low and ultra-low emission vehicle refuelling infrastructure.” 
 
iv) Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
The second bullet point of Paragraph 14 is relevant as the policy with respect to flood risk 
is a restrictive policy. Moreover, the Framework sets out a strategy for dealing with flood 
risk in paragraphs 93-108 inc. which involves the assessment of site specific risks with 
proposals aiming to place the most vulnerable development in areas of lowest risk and 
ensuring appropriate flood resilience and resistance; including the use of SUDs drainage 
systems. Meanwhile, Policy LP14 of the Plan is also relevant as it reinforces the approach 
to appropriate risk averse location of development and drainage of sites, including the 
impact upon water environments. 
 
Moreover, Paragraph 100 requires that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk”.  
The Framework therefore advocates a sequential approach to development and 
Paragraph 101 indicates that new development should be steered to areas with the lowest 
probability of flooding. It makes it clear that: 

34



 
“Development should not be allocated or permitted if there are reasonably available sites 
appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a lower probability of flooding. The 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment will provide the basis for applying this test. A sequential 
approach should be used in areas known to be at risk from any form of flooding.” 
 
Paragraph 4 of the Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework 
provides further guidance on this matter and confirms that:- 
 
“Where a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment is not available, the Sequential Test will be 
based on the Environment Agency flood zones.” 
 
Paragraph 5 goes on to suggest that: 
 
“The overall aim should be to steer new development to Flood Zone 1. Where there are no 
reasonably available sites in Flood Zone 1, local planning authorities allocating land in 
local plans or determining planning applications for development at any particular location 
should take into account the flood risk vulnerability of land uses (see table 2) and consider 
reasonably available sites in Flood Zone 2, applying the Exception Test if required (see 
table 3). Only where there are no reasonably available sites in Flood Zones 1 or 2 should 
the suitability of sites in Flood Zone 3 be considered, taking into account the flood risk 
vulnerability of land uses and applying the Exception Test if required.” 
 
b) Sustainable Development and the Proposed Uses 
 
i) Retailing and Other Town Centre Uses 
 
Section 6 of the Environmental Statement deals with the Socio-Economics of the 
development, including housing and other growth and any temporary and permanent 
impacts, whether positive or negative; and the application is supported by a Retail 
Statement. The latter includes a summary of the retail studies undertaken for the Council 
and those in neighbouring authorities (outside of Central Lincolnshire) that have an impact 
on retail trading in the city; a sequential approach to site section; a retail health analysis; 
and impact assessment. This has been interrogated by Lichfields and Quod on behalf of 
the Lincolnshire Co-operative and Debenhams respectively; and The Civic Trust has also 
made comments on the application. 
 
The main shopping area in the City extends south along High Street and continues over 
the railway line and main town centre uses dominate on both sides of the street all the way 
to the application site. The eastern side of St. Marks incorporates national retailers 
anchored by a large department store and although the area to the west has a different 
retail offer focused around bulky goods, and is dominated by car parking, it remains part of 
the main concentration of retailing within the city. The Primary Shopping Area was 
therefore allocated in the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan to include St. Marks in order to 
provide suitable expansion to meet future comparison retail needs. 
 
National planning policies within the Planning Practice Guidance and the Framework set 
the scene for the implications of developments within or near to town centres. In particular, 
the Framework sets out when a Sequential Test and an Impact Assessment are required 
(Paragraphs 24-27) and Policy LP6 of the Plan provides clarification of the local floor 
space thresholds based upon evidence contained in the Central Lincolnshire City and 
Town Centre Study.  

35



 
Although the applicant’s submission and the relationship of the site in the context of the 
Central Lincolnshire Local Plan has been interrogated by third parties and consultees and 
the methodology of the potential impact upon retailing elsewhere in the city critiqued, since 
this correspondence has been received, St. Marks has been confirmed within the allocated 
Primary Shopping Area. As such, the Sequential Test and Impact Assessments do not 
need to be carried out. What is more, in the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan Inspectors’ 
Report (April 2017) it is suggested that it would also not be appropriate to impose “a cap 
on potential new retail development” nor “protect one part of the shopping area over 
another”. Consequently, there are no requirements for restrictions on floor space (or 
divisions therein) or requirements to interrogate the impact of the development upon 
another part of the Primary Shopping Area. 
 
Officers would advise Members that the mix of uses proposed, as well as their indicative 
locations within the site, should provide sufficient interest and variation to maintain 
vibrancy within the wider development, particularly through the interaction of the 
development with the frontages to the River Witham and beyond the site to the High Street 
and Brayford Pool and the incorporation of leisure and hotel developments. 
  
ii) Housing 
 
The Council’s current housing supply was considered as part of the preparation of the 
Central Lincolnshire Local Plan and evidence currently available to officers indicates that 
the Council is able to demonstrate a five-year supply, as such the local development plan 
policies can be considered up to date and there is not pressure for the Council to approve 
development which may not otherwise satisfy the three strands of the Framework as 
referred to above. 
 
As alluded to in the relevant policies, the incorporation of dwellings and student housing 
within the redevelopment of the site is considered to be appropriate. Unlike previous 
applications within the city, there is now not a requirement for developers to evidence a 
need for student accommodation linked to the demand for students. Similarly, in the 
context of Policy LP26 and the evidence base to Policy LP37, given the impact upon the 
social imbalance within the community residing within the West End of the city, the 
proposals could make a positive impact upon the demand for student housing in this and 
other communities. Moreover, the demand for houses in multiple occupation could reduce 
thereby facilitating a return of dwellings to family occupation. Notwithstanding this, it is 
clear that the site is sustainably located adjacent to one of the primary routes into the city, 
which is a bus route; and accessible by cycle and walking routes. 
 
iii) Sustainability of the Uses 
 
In terms of the sustainability dimensions of the development, officers recognise that the 
development would deliver economic and social sustainability directly through the 
construction of the development and indirectly through the occupation of the dwellings, 
spend in the City and retention/creation of other jobs due to the location of the 
development within the City. In addition, the erection of development in this location would 
not in itself undermine sustainable principles of development subject to other matters. 
However, it is important to consider the wider sustainability of the development. 
 
 
 

36



c) Sustainable Access, Highway Safety, Traffic Capacity and Air Quality  
 
i) The Proposals 
 
Section 8 of the Environmental Statement deals with Transport and Accessibility but it also 
includes a Transport Assessment in Volume 4A, which in turn includes a Framework 
Travel Plan to promote sustainable modes of transport. 
 
Public vehicular access to the proposed development would be from Rope Walk to the 
entrance of the 1100-space multi-storey car park (which would provide an uplift of 220 
spaces). The spaces provided would include 55 motorcycle parking spaces, 55 disabled 
bays, 55 active and 55 passive electric vehicle parking bays, and 5 car club spaces. The 
access to the car park would approximately correlate with the access to the existing retail 
park (The Sidings) at this location; and the secondary site access from St. Mark Street, 
adjacent to Debenhams, would be closed. 
 
The application site access junction would be signal controlled, form part of a wider 
network of local junctions and include a signal controlled pedestrian crossing. Meanwhile, 
service vehicles would access the five proposed service yards via the roads bordering the 
application site. 
 
In order to encourage cycling by residents, employees and visitors to the proposed 
development, the north-south pedestrian and cyclist route adjacent to the River Witham 
will be upgraded and linked to the route serving Brayford Wharf East; and over 800 cycle 
parking spaces would be provided. The majority of these would be provided for students. 
Meanwhile, pedestrian movement will be improved by enhanced public realm throughout 
the application site, with improved east-west connectivity between High Street and Tritton 
Road and north to the centre, via High Street and St. Benedict’s Square. 
 
ii) Sustainable Access, Highway Safety, Traffic Capacity 
 
A number of comments have been received in relation to the proposals, including on 
behalf of Royal Mail and the Lincolnshire Co-operative; and the Civic Trust. 
 
The response on behalf of Lincolnshire Co-operative has provided a separate interrogation 
of the Transport Assessment submitted with the application. The applicant has 
subsequently provided a response to this. Similarly, the Civic Trust consider that there 
should be more detailed analysis of the vehicle access and movement connected with the 
site, including the impact of the East/West Link, as it is considered that there could be an 
impact upon traffic resulting from the development. As the site is allocated within the 
adopted Local Plan the requirements for a developer to undertake additional work needs 
to be supported by the Highway Authority. In this instance they are satisfied that the 
access to the development would not be inappropriate as they have requested that land to 
the northern boundary of the site would need to be protected to enable the second Phase 
of the East West Link, as shown below: 
 
 

37



 
 
Meanwhile, Royal Mail seek to ensure that operations at their Delivery Office and Vehicle 
Services Centre would not be harmed by the works to be carried out to the site or future 
usage, including through additional traffic in the immediate area and servicing for the 
development. They note that servicing is already carried out via Firth Road but raise 
concerns about its suitability. Whilst it would be unreasonable to resist the reuse of an 
extant servicing area it would be reasonable to ensure that the future construction and 
phasing of the development addresses the implications of access. 
 
Similarly, the Highway Authority are keen to ensure that an application for Reserved 
Matters includes a phasing plan with details of the access arrangements for the existing 
two storey car park at the eastern end of the site during the construction phases; and they 
have requested that works required to the highway around the proposed accesses should 
be carried out as shown in the application or by further agreement of details, as required.  
 
iii) Connectivity 
 
The response on behalf of Lincolnshire Co-operative suggests that the development 
should ensure that enhanced pedestrian routes are delivered as they consider that the site 
is not currently well integrated with the City Centre. Their suggestion is that there should 
be improved off-site linkages. It is not necessarily clear which areas of improvement are 
referred to but it is important to note that the County Council has only recently upgraded 
the public realm along High Street from St. Marks to Tentercroft Street. As such, it would 
not be reasonable or necessary to undertake further improvements here. What is more, 
contributions to the pedestrianisation of the High Street between Wigford Way and 
Tentercroft Street have not been sought from the Highway Authority. Nonetheless, it would 
be difficult to suggest that the development of St. Marks would have a direct impact upon 
or necessitate this element of change in the city. 
 
Notwithstanding this, due to the change in the nature of the development within the site, it 
would be necessary to provide improved connectivity across Rope Walk / St. Mark Street; 
and the Highway Authority has requested that the applicant enters into a S106 agreement 
to secure a contribution of £240,322 towards improvements to the pedestrian crossing 
points at this junction. They also require a Travel Plan for the development to be submitted 

38



prior to occupation “to ensure that access to the site is sustainable and reduces 
dependency on the car”. 
 
In terms of the interface between different highway users and around the site, the Royal 
Mail have sought clarification regarding the implications of any changes to the pedestrian 
/ cycle routes either side of the river in terms of the impact upon vehicles traveling to / 
from Royal Mail. Should Members be so minded to approve this application, officers are 
satisfied that these matters could be clarified through the application for Reserved Matters 
as there is a clear intention for the river frontage to be used to increase permeability and 
accessibility. 
 
iv) Air Quality 
 
Section 9 of the Environmental Statement refers to Air Quality and the Council’s Pollution 
Control Officer has alluded to the fact that the assessment undertaken is reasonable but 
there are a number of matters that require further consideration that are identified in the 
assessment, including: 
 

 the full impact of the East West Link Road, as sufficient data was not available 
at the time the assessment was undertaken; 

 a revised damage costs calculation at the detailed stage; 

 the provision of electric vehicle recharging points; 

 CHP emission controls, including stack heights, low NOx boilers; and 

 a Dust Management Plan for the construction phase. 
 

As the development could have an impact upon air quality within the city, all of the above 
would need to be secured by planning conditions. This would be entirely reasonable and 
proportionate to the scale of development. 
 
d) Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
Section 12 of the Environmental Statement refers to Water Resources and includes 
reference to flood risk and drainage, as well as consumption of water. In terms of the 
latter, the applicant has included a target to minimise consumption of water in line with the 
requirements of Policy LP14 of the Local Plan. Technical Appendix 12.1 also contains the 
Flood Risk Assessment, Appendix 4 of which includes the Drainage Assessment Report 
 
i) Whether the Site is Sequentially Acceptable 
 
In this instance, south-western parts of the application site are located in Flood Zone 3 
(High Probability). However, an area in the centre of the application site and the majority of 
land to the east of the River Witham are in Flood Zone 1. The remainder of the application 
site is within Flood Zone 2. From a sequential perspective, the site is an important 
allocation within the local plan, as part of the Primary Shopping Area and in need of 
regeneration. Consequently, the development of the site for the purposes identified would 
be sequentially preferable to other locations. As such, officers are satisfied that the 
development would pass the Sequential Test required by Paragraph 101 of the NPPF. 
However, as the development would need to be located within the flood zones referred to, 
the Exception Test required by Paragraph 102 should be applied. 
 
 
 

39



ii) The Exception Test 
 
If one can satisfy the Sequential Test then development must demonstrate that it provides 
wider community benefit to meet the overall requirements of sustainable development. The 
benefits to the community would be evidently intended to include the need to avoid social 
and economic blight but also make a positive contribution to the environment.  
 
The benefits of redeveloping the site would bring wider improvements to the local area and 
the quality of the built environment. In addition, the provision of dwellings and other 
accommodation in a sustainable location would also help to reduce the need to travel. In 
addition, officers are satisfied that the proposals could contribute to improvements to the 
character and appearance of the area and the social wellbeing of those living nearby. 
Officers are therefore of the opinion that the proposals would outweigh the flood risk 
implications associated with increasing the number of residential units and therefore 
persons at risk from flooding. The proposals would therefore be in accordance with the 
requirements of the first part of the Exception Test in the NPPF (Paragraph 102). 
 
Part two of the Exception Test relates to the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which should 
be submitted in support of development and indicates that development should be safe for 
its lifetime and not increase flood risk elsewhere. There are flood defences present along 
the banks of the River Witham and those areas of the application site in Flood Zone 3 are 
shown to benefit from these defences. On the basis of this classification, the Standard of 
Protection (SoP) of the defences is considered suitable to protect the application site from 
the 1 in 100 year fluvial and 1 in 200 year tidal floods. However, the areas within Flood 
Zone 2 are not shown to benefit from defences so the SoP is not as high as the 1,000 year 
return period flood for rivers or the sea. The Flood Risk Assessment submitted with the 
application is compliant with the Framework and has been endorsed by the Environment 
Agency, subject to conditions. 
 
iii) Drainage 
 
The applicant has provided a Drainage Assessment Report which has been interrogated 
by consultees including the Lead Local Flood Authority (the County Council). Although the 
Drainage Board objected in their initial feedback to the County Council, the application has 
since been updated and the LLFA does not object, subject to a planning condition being 
imposed to deal with surface water disposal. Anglian water has also suggested a similar 
condition. The Environment Agency has suggested that there should not be any infiltration 
drainage permitted due to contamination of the site. However, the planning condition for 
drainage to be agreed can address this matter. In terms of foul and waste water, Anglian 
Water has suggested that there is capacity within their system to accommodate the flows 
from wastewater but the impact of foul water would need to be addressed through a 
strategy agreed by planning condition. 
 
Consequently, subject to planning conditions, the proposals would be in accordance with 
Paragraphs 102 and 103 of the Framework, specifically in relation to flood risk as the 
proposals would not result in unacceptable risk to life from inundation or be in conflict with 
the environmental dimension of sustainability outlined in Paragraph 7. 

 
e) Summary on this Issue 
 
In the context of the above, the proposals would offer benefits to economic and social 
sustainability through spend by visitors and residents of the city, as well as the new 

40



residents within the development. Jobs would also be created/sustained through 
construction and the provision of additional retail and other town centre uses within the 
site; and, with the development, Lincoln would continue to be the focus for retailing within 
the sub region. The provision of student accommodation would also improve the social 
sustainability of the development being in close proximity to the university campus and 
diverting need away from family homes elsewhere within the city. In addition, there is also 
no evidence to suggest matters of congestion or road safety and the impacts upon air 
quality would warrant refusal of the application due to the social or environmental 
sustainability of the development. What is more, the benefits to the locality and risk to the 
development of flooding would not be in conflict with the environmental dimension of 
sustainability. It is therefore the recommendation of officers that suitable planning 
conditions could be designed to ensure that the development would be sustainable either 
in part or as a completed scheme for the whole site. 
 
4) Affordable Housing and Contributions to Service Provision 
 
a) Relevant Planning Policies 
 
i) Provision of Affordable Housing 

 
The Framework maintains the principle of creating sustainable, inclusive and mixed 
communities and calls for local planning authorities to set policies for meeting identified 
affordable housing needs on site unless offsite provision or a financial contribution of 
broadly equivalent value can be robustly justified (para. 50). However the threshold of 15 
dwellings which triggered the need for an affordable housing contribution contained within 
PPS3 has not been transposed into the Framework. 
 
As alluded to above, the application was received prior to the adoption of the Local Plan 
and negotiations are underway regarding the provision of affordable housing upon the 
basis of the requirements of the City of Lincoln Council Local Plan 1998, as such, the 
Council would expect of 20% of all dwelling units to be affordable homes. 
 
ii) Other Community Infrastructure and Services 
 
The Framework highlights that planning should be a creative exercise in finding ways of 
enhancing and improving the places in which people live (para.17). Perhaps most 
crucially however, is Paragraph 70 which refers to new development and states: 
 
“To deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community 
needs, planning policies and decisions should:  

 
 Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such 

as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses, 
and places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities and residential environments; and  

 Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic 
uses and community facilities and services.”  

 
Paragraph 72 of the Framework refers to the importance of ensuring "that a sufficient 
choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities." 
The Framework therefore advocates that LPAs should "give great weight to the need to 
create, expand or alter schools". 

41



 
In addition, developments which would result in an increase in the number of households 
within the locality are expected to contribute to improvements to existing playing facilities 
or provide play and amenity and open space that could be utilised by the development 
(Policy LP24 of the Plan). This concept accords with Paragraph 73 of the Framework and 
Policies LP9 and LP12 which outline the importance of the health and well-being of 
communities. 
 
However, prior to the adoption of the Local Plan, there was no policy basis in the 1998 
Local Plan to request contributions towards health. In the interests of fairness to 
applicants, the Council would not be seeking contributions from the developer in relation to 
health provision. As such, Policies LP9 and LP12 will not be applied in this respect 
 
iii) Viability of the Development 
 
Meanwhile, paragraphs 173-177 (incl.) set out considerations in relation to ensuring 
development viability and deliverability with reference to obligations, it makes the point 
that any affordable housing or local standards requirements that may be applied should 
be assessed at the plan making stage, where possible, and kept under review. However, 
this is within the context of paragraph 203 which asks local planning authorities to 
consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable 
through the use of conditions or planning obligations. 
 
b) Mitigating the Direct Impact of the Development and Viability 
 
i) On and Off-Site Provision 
 
In the context of the relevant policy framework and the scheme presented, a wholly viable 
development of the site for 150 dwellings would provide: 
 

 A payment for the provision of 30 affordable units off-site; 

 28 secondary and 5 school-based sixth form places, which would equate to a 
contribution to education service provision of £567,899; and 

 A contribution to the provision of / improvements to existing off-site playing fields; and 

 A contribution to the provision of / improvements to existing play spaces. 
 
In terms of the latter, based on the indicative unit and tenure mix, the applicant’s Planning 
Statement has committed to provide a minimum of 880m2 of associated designated play 
space and 1,936m2 of informal playable space. This is derived in accordance with FIT 
standards of play. Meanwhile, in respect of open space and amenity space, the proposed 
development would seek to deliver a minimum of 10,000 m2 public amenity space and 
1,500 m2 of private communal garden space. 
 
All of the above appear to be reasonable and based upon a solid rationale, as such 
officers are satisfied that these requests would meet the tests relevant to obligations 
referred to in the Framework. This provision should be secured through a Section 106 
agreement, which should be signed prior to any planning decision to secure the affordable 
housing units. In the absence of such an agreement the application would undermine the 
principles of sustainable development outlined in the Framework. Agreement in this 
manner would accord with Paragraphs 203 and 206 of the Framework in relation to 
planning obligations and conditions. 
 

42



ii) Viability of the Development 
 
The applicant has not referred to any issues regarding the viability of the development, as 
such it is envisaged that should Members be minded to grant permission for the 
development then this would be with the knowledge that the applicant would sign a s106 
agreement to procure future payment towards off-site improvements to playing fields and 
play space provision that would be impacted by the development. 
 
5) The Impact of the Design of the Proposals 
 
a)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
So far as this issue is concerned, as alluded to above, the proposals must achieve 
sustainable development and it is the social dimension of sustainability that relates to 
design. Moreover, Paragraph 7 of the Framework requires the creation of high quality built 
environment. In addition, the policy principles outlined in Paragraphs 17, 58, 60, 61 and 64 
of the Framework also apply. Moreover, the Framework states that good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development and is indivisible from good planning. Design is to 
contribute positively to making places better for people (para. 56). To accomplish this 
development is to establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to 
create attractive and comfortable places to live and responding to local character and 
history (para. 58). It is also proper to seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness 
(para. 60). 
 
At the local level, the Council, in partnership with English Heritage, have undertaken the 
Lincoln Townscape Appraisal (the LTA), which has resulted in the systematic identification 
of 105 separate “character areas” within the City. The application site the eastern side of 
the River Witham lies within the St. Peter at Gowts Character Area and the western side is 
within the Tritton Road Industrial Character Area. Policy LP29 refers to the LTA and 
requires that developments should “protect the dominance and approach views of Lincoln 
Cathedral, Lincoln Castle and uphill Lincoln on the skyline”. This policy is supported by 
Policy LP17, which is relevant to the protection of views and suggests that:- 

 
“All development proposals should take account of views in to, out of and within 
development areas: schemes should be designed (through considerate development, 
layout and design) to preserve or enhance key local views and vistas, and create 
new public views where possible. Particular consideration should be given to views of 
significant buildings and views within landscapes which are more sensitive to change 
due to their open, exposed nature and extensive intervisibility from various 
viewpoints.” 

 
Policy LP26 refers to design in wider terms and requires that “all development, including 
extensions and alterations to existing buildings, must achieve high quality sustainable 
design that contributes positively to local character, landscape and townscape, and 
supports diversity, equality and access for all.” The policy includes 12 detailed and diverse 
principles which should be assessed. This policy is supported by Policy LP5 which also 
refers to the impact on the character and appearance of the area; by Policies LP7 and 
LP31, which refer to the protection and enhancement of the character of the city; and by 
Policy LP29 which seeks to protect waterside environments through ensuring they remain 
open and enhanced as focal points in the City; and contribute towards green infrastructure. 
 

43



In terms of the wider impacts upon built heritage, Policy LP29 also requires that “proposals 
within, adjoining or affecting the setting of the 11 Conservation Areas and 3 historic parks 
and gardens within the built up area of Lincoln, should preserve and enhance their special 
character, setting, appearance and respecting their special historic and architectural 
context”; and “protect, conserve and, where appropriate, enhance heritage assets, key 
landmarks and their settings and their contribution to local distinctiveness and sense of 
place, including through sensitive development and environmental improvements”. 
 
Meanwhile, conservation is enshrined in the Core Planning Principles of the Framework 
(Paragraph 17) as planning is expected to “conserve heritage assets in a manner 
appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the 
quality of life of this and future generations”. In addition, Section 12 of the Framework also 
refers to the impacts of development upon designated heritage assets and is supported by 
Policy LP25 also applies as it specifically refers to the impacts of developments upon 
these assets. In terms of conservation areas, the policy requires that development should 
either enhance or reinforce features that contribute positively to the area’s character, 
appearance and setting. Meanwhile, proposals also need to have regard to the setting of 
other designated assets, including listed buildings. 
 
b)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals 
 
i) The Site Context 
 
The application site does not contain any nationally designated (protected) heritage 
assets, such as scheduled monuments, listed buildings or registered parks and gardens. 
However, the eastern part of the application site between the Debenhams and Lakeland 
Stores and the southernmost part of the decked car park are located within the West 
Parade and Brayford Conservation Area and is considered to have the potential to affect 
views into and out of the Cathedral and City Centre Conservation Area. The site is also 
within the setting of the historic hillside, the focus of which is Lincoln Cathedral. The 
position of the Cathedral against the skyline on the escarpment overlooking the city was 
designed to enhance its presence and visual drama. In its elevated position the 
monumental architecture can be best appreciated and this intentional experience 
reinforced the status of the church. 
 
In the latter part of the 20th century and continuing in recent years the existing retail park 
and the area in general has had increasing prominence as a principal gateway into the 
city. This role has exacerbated the unsatisfactory edge of city townscape the site currently 
presents in terms of overall character design, build quality, grain, layout and scale. In 
short, it is incongruous and harmful to have an ‘out of town’ retail park as an urban 
extension to the historic High Street and Brayford Pool.  
 
ii) The Submission 
 
The visual implications of the proposals for the site are key to the assimilation of 
development into its context and the creation of high quality built environment and Volume 
3 of the Environmental Statement contains a Heritage, Townscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment. This refers to the implications upon Heritage Assets and character areas and 
it has meticulously investigated the impact of the proposals in a series of views from within 
and outside of the site and elsewhere within the city. 
 

44



As alluded to elsewhere, the detailed design of the proposed development will be dealt 
with at Reserved Matters stage as each of the individual phases of the development are 
brought forward. Therefore, as in addition to the ES, the phases will be informed by the 
parameter plans, Design and Access Statement and Design Codes. In particular, the latter 
will provide guidance on the future form, use and appearance of the public realm and of 
the buildings on a block by block basis. The applicant advises that these documents have 
been “informed by a contextual analysis of the surrounding area and seek to both respect 
and utilise the existing application site context to inform detailed design”. 
 
iii) Grain of Development and its Scale and Mass 
 
It is clear that there are tall buildings within the vicinity of the application site, particularly to 
the eastern side of the river along Brayford Wharf East but also to the west in terms of the 
Holiday Inn Express hotel and ’The Gateway’ student accommodation; what is more, the 
four storey Isaac Newton building has recently been constructed to the north of Rope 
Walk. However, as alluded to above in terms of the view analysis, the importance of 
getting the scale right within the application site has not been underestimated. Moreover, 
the development would appropriately sustain the significance of the numerous heritage 
assets on the hillside by protecting important views:- 
 
South Common 

 

 
Existing View 

 

45



 
Proposed View 

 
Based upon the above images, officers are satisfied that in key views from South Common 
and the Historic Hillside the proposed development is not visually obtrusive and doesn’t 
protrude above the horizon. Rather, it is well assimilated into the existing townscape. 
 
The Historic Hillside 
 

 
Existing View 

 

46



 
Proposed View 

 
The River Corridor 
 
Perhaps one of the key views to consider is that presented along the River Witham 
corridor, which is currently defined by narrow areas of soft landscaping (including trees, 
grass and scrub to the south of the internal bridge and vertical canal walls to the north); 
and a cycle path and pedestrian routes connecting areas to the south of the application 
site with Brayford Pool to the north.  
 

  
Existing View      Proposed View 

 
The proposed development will be partially screened by retained trees and landscaping 
but, as alluded to above, the additional mass of the blocks adjacent to the river could be 
reduced by the approach to design and landscaping detailed in the Design Codes, Design 
and Access Statement and parameter plans. 
 
Officers welcome the fact that the development engages with the River Witham and takes 
advantage of the watercourse as a natural and heritage asset which has traditionally 
provided an important route into the city, a point that has been identified by Historic 
England and the Council’s Principal Conservation Officer. In particular, the creation of 
new, public realm alongside the river would enhance views of the Cathedral and historic 
hillside. 
 

47



Notwithstanding the above, as recommended by Historic England and advised by the 
Council’s Principal Conservation Officer:- 
 

“in terms of a positive sense of enclosure and retention of views towards the historic 
hillside, the optimum spatial relationship between the built forms and the river corridor 
are as shown on the Parameters Plan and a movement of blocks closer to the river 
would be far less successful.” 

 
Officers agree with this assessment and that this would seem a reasonable approach, 
particularly as the images provided as part of the application appear to present an 
appropriate relationship. Officers would recommend that this matter can be controlled by 
planning condition. 
 
Brayford Pool 
 

 
Existing View 

 

 
Proposed View 

 
Similarly, the scale of buildings when viewed from Brayford Way and the Pool would be 
commensurate with the scale of other buildings in their context, particularly those located 
on the University’s Campus and the Junction student housing development. 
 
Tritton Road 
 
The images below provide a sequential view along Tritton Road approaching from the 
south. Based upon these images, like Historic England, officers are satisfied that the scale 
of the proposals and their relationship with the road would be comfortable in the context of 
views towards the Cathedral and historic hillside. 
 

48



  
Existing View      Proposed View 

 

  
Existing View      Proposed View 

 

  
Existing View      Proposed View 

 

49



  
Existing View      Proposed View 

 
Overall Design and Layout 
 
In terms of design and layout, the proposal will reinforce and create connectivity into the 
city and across the site whilst the grain and scale allows for a successful integration with 
the surrounding townscape, primarily relating to the character of development around the 
Brayford and university site. Moreover, officers are satisfied that the detailed design, 
including façade treatment and roof line, could assist in breaking up the perceived mass of 
the buildings, particularly in views from the south and east; and would provide visual 
interest. What is more, with retail uses typically being located at the ground floor level and 
along the main building frontages, this would enable active streets and frontages, 
particularly toward the river corridor. These points are reiterated by Historic England who 
confirm that they “have no objection to the proposed demolitions. We also welcome in 
principle the proposals to provide a coherent block structure which better integrates with 
the existing city centre, including by providing good east-west access and quality public 
spaces.” 
 
c) Summary in Relation to this Issue 
 
The proposals offer the opportunity to regenerate this important area with a high quality 
development commensurate with the valued character and appearance of the 
conservation areas. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal satisfies the duty 
contained within section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 
Act) 1990  ‘In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation 
area, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area’.  Furthermore, the proposal is in accordance with 
the guidance contained within paragraph 137 of the NPPF which advises that Local 
Planning Authorities should look for new development within a Conservation Area and 
within the setting of heritage assets to reveal or better enhance significance. 
 
6)  Implications of the Proposals upon Amenity 
 
a)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
In terms of national policy, the NPPF suggests that development that results in poor 
design and/or impacts upon the quality of peoples’ lives would not amount to sustainable 
development. Consequently, the implications of both are key to the consideration of the 
acceptability of the principle of development within a given site. Moreover, the Framework 
(Paragraph 9) sees “seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and 
historic environment, as well as in people’s quality of life” as being important to the delivery 
of sustainable development, through “replacing poor design with better design” and 

50



“improving the conditions in which people live” amongst others. Furthermore, the core 
principles of the Framework (Paragraph 17) indicate that “planning should…always seek to 
secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 
occupants of land and buildings”. Both aspects are referred to in detail in the following two 
sections of this report. 
 
Policy LP26 of the Plan deals with the amenities which all existing and future occupants of 
neighbouring land and buildings may reasonably expect to enjoy and suggests that these 
must not be unduly harmed by, or as a result of, the development. There are nine specific 
criteria which must be considered. Policies LP5 and LP33 of the Plan also refer to the 
impact upon the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. These policies are in line with the 
policy principles outlined in Paragraphs 17, 59 and 123 of the NPPF. Indeed, Paragraph 
123 of the Framework suggests that “decisions should aim to…avoid noise from giving rise 
to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life as a result of new development”. 
 
b)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals 
 
Sections 10, 13 and 14 of the Environmental Statement deal with Noise and Vibration; 
Wind Microclimate; and Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing and Solar Glare respectively. 
These are supported by Technical Appendices 13.1, which includes a Pedestrian Wind 
Microclimate Assessment Report, and 14, which includes an Internal Daylight Report 
concentrating on the proposed buildings. 
 
As the details of the development are not fixed, except for the access, it is not normally 
possible to determine if the final impact of the proposals would have a detrimental impact 
upon the occupants of existing or proposed properties. However, the application content 
includes maximum parameters so the largest scale of the development would be known. 
What is more, the ES accepts that the proposals could result in moderately adverse loss of 
daylight to the terrace of properties situated on Beevor Street to the south of the 
application site. However, in considering the modelling undertaken for the development, 
this appears to be in the later hours of the day in summer months when the sun is higher 
and to the west for a longer period of the day. The mitigation referred to in the application 
includes revisiting the scale of the development adjacent to the site to address this matter. 
Officers are satisfied that this can be secured by planning condition to inform Reserved 
Matters. 
 
Similarly, the impacts of solar glare can be addressed through mitigation of the Reserved 
Matters submission. The ES also outlines that there are not expected to be any harmful 
implications resulting from the development and its relationship with microclimate but 
some mitigation would need to be employed through the design or screening of entrances 
and some seating areas. A resident also has concerns regarding vibration potentially from 
piling, which has been identified in the Environmental Statement as being a temporary 
minor adverse impact but it is agreed that there would not be a need for mitigation. 
 
Although the Council’s Pollution Control Officer considers that the noise assessment 
methodology appears to be reasonable, he has queries regarding some of the impact 
criteria used within the report. Equally, Royal Mail has requested that the residential 
development within the site closest to Royal Mail’s site is either set back or includes noise 
mitigation. The ES has referred to the implications of noise upon the occupants of 
proposed residential accommodation and suggests that these would be permanent but 
negligibly adverse. Given that the majority of the proposed scheme is yet to be finalised, it 
would be reasonable to require the applicant to address these issues prior to the 

51



submission of Reserved Matters, particularly as the noise data would, like air quality, need 
to consider the impact of the East-West Link. It should be possible to mitigate the impact of 
external noise, details of which can be secured by condition.  
 
What is more, the details of any externally mounted plant and commercial kitchen extracts 
would need to be submitted for consideration. In order to mitigate the impact of noise from 
other sources, officers would also require details of glazing and associated ventilation to 
be agreed through condition. Finally, there would also need to be controls over the times 
of servicing and deliveries and hours of working during construction. 
 
c) The Planning Balance 
 
Taking all the above in to account, it is considered that the proposed development of the 
site could be accommodated in the future in a manner that would not cause unacceptable 
harm. Moreover, with satisfactory controls over the design, layout and scale of 
development at Reserved Matters and controls over the mitigation employed in relation to 
daylighting, microclimate, noise, plant / machinery and servicing / working, the proposals 
would be socially and environmentally sustainable in the context of the Framework and 
would accord with the policies in the Local Plan. 
  
7) Other Matters 
 
a) Archaeological Implications of the Development of the Site 
 
Aside from the section below in relation to policy, this section of the report relies upon the 
advice provided by the City Archaeologist. Officers fully endorse this advice and the 
recommendations moving forward. 
 
i)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
The Framework and Planning Practice Guide as well as good practice advice notes 
produced by Historic England on behalf of the Historic Environment Forum including 
Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment and The Setting of 
Heritage Assets are relevant to the consideration of Planning Applications. 
 
Indeed, heritage is referred to within the core principles of the Framework (Paragraph 17) 
and Paragraph 128 of the Framework states that “in determining applications, local 
planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any 
heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of 
detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to 
understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum the 
relevant historic environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets 
assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a site on which 
development is proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with 
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an 
appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.” 
 
Paragraph 141 of the Framework states that LPAs should ‘require developers to record 
and advance understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or 
in part) in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this 
evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible.’ 
 

52



Policy LP25 in the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan requires that development does lead to 
significant detrimental impacts on heritage assets. This issue is directed in relation to 
archaeology that could be non-designated heritage assets. 
 
ii) Archaeological background 
 
There have been a number of archaeological investigations undertaken both within the 
development area and in the near vicinity. These provide a useful context to the proposed 
development and an indication of the sort of remains that may be present on the site. 
 

 The excavation of the former St Marks station in 1986 provides a lot of information 
about the development site to the east of the River Witham. The excavation 
identified a complex multi-phase site with remains from multiple periods including 
Roman and medieval structures and burials, as well as remains associated with the 
Carmelite Friary. 

 The new Sarah Swift building, recently constructed by the university, was preceded 
by several excavations, one of which revealed part of a previously unknown Roman 
cemetery. It is notable that the cemetery remains were only identified at a late stage 
of the project, as it had been missed by the evaluation. As such its excavation 
entailed significant delays and costs for the developer. 

 The university’s Isaac Newton building, situated to the north of the site, was 
similarly subject to extensive pre-determination evaluation. Test pits identified the 
presence of a buried prehistoric land surface, which proved to contain flint artefacts 
of Mesolithic date. This has subsequently been identified as a temporary 
encampment site with a number of hearths and clear areas of flint working activity. 
These remains were recovered at a depth of around 2.5m – 3m on a sand island in 
the former wetland. 
  

The proposal is therefore situated in an area of high archaeological potential, as indicated 
both by results of nearby excavations, and by the location of the site adjacent to the River 
Witham and the High Street, a former Roman Road. 
 
Proximity to the river also increases the likelihood that waterlogged organic remains might 
be preserved, which would add to the significance of any sites identified in the 
development area and potentially increase the costs of post-excavation conservation. 
 
iii) Work Undertaken for this Application 
 
Section 7 of the Environmental Statement refers to archaeology but, following discussion 
with officers, the applicant has also provided a Historic Environment Assessment. This is a 
desk-based study which assesses the impact on buried heritage assets (archaeological 
remains). Furthermore, a borehole evaluation has been undertaken during the 
consideration of the application. The City Archaeologist has advised on both documents as 
follows: 
 

 Historic Environment Assessment 
 
Following the EIA scoping exercise, and as part of the requirements of NPPF paragraph 
128, the applicants submitted a thorough Historic Environment Assessment (Vile, 2017), 
effectively an archaeological desk-based assessment. This used information from the 
Lincoln Heritage Database and other sources to assess the potential for archaeological 

53



remains to be present on the site, their likely significance, and the impact of proposed 
development upon them. 
 
In summary, it found that there was a high potential for remains to be present from the 
prehistoric, Roman, early medieval and high medieval periods. The potential is not uniform 
across the development site, but rather is largely concentrated in the area to the east of 
the River Witham. For prehistoric remains, the reverse is likely to be the case, with a 
greater potential for remains to be present in the west. 
 
The likely significance of these remains, if present, was found to be medium to high. In 
particular, the presence of Mesolithic settlement remains, Roman settlement and burials, 
early medieval burials, and remains associated with the Carmelite Friary, would all require 
efforts either to preserve them in situ or to excavate and record them ahead of 
development. Given the proximity of the River Witham, there is a high likelihood of 
waterlogged remains being present from any of these periods, which would be of high 
significance in themselves due to higher levels of preservation. 
 
Without mitigation, the development as proposed was considered likely to have the 
following impacts; 
 

 Piling and associated ground remediation – significance of any archaeological 
remains affected “reduced locally to negligible or nil” except with regard to Block 4, 
which is intended to be re-clad rather than rebuilt. The impact of piling upon 
waterlogged remains is not addressed, but would necessarily alter the subsurface 
environment in some regard, potentially leading to waterlogged remains being 
compromised. 

 Shallower foundations e.g. ground beams and pile caps – where archaeology exists 
at shallower depths, its significance would be “reduced locally to negligible or nil”. 
However, these elements would not impact remains at depths of greater than 1.2m 
below ground level. 

 Attenuation Tank and drainage – archaeological material would be “completely 
removed” within the footprint and depth of the tank, and locally impacted by 
drainage runs. The details of these utilities are not yet available, and so their 
specific impacts cannot be known at this time. 
 

The HEA recommended that archaeological work to mitigate these impacts should include 
“pre-development” archaeological evaluation, excavation and recording. 
 

 Borehole Evaluation 
 
To provide further information to support the HEA, the applicant commissioned a small 
programme of archaeological borehole evaluation across the site. This comprised nine 
core samples, each approximately 100mm wide, aimed to be drilled through the 
archaeological sequence until natural deposits were reached. The samples were taken off 
site and analysed in controlled laboratory conditions to identify archaeological finds and 
environmental remains, and to generate a deposit model for the site. 
 
The borehole survey report provides useful background information, but is not in itself 
sufficient to understand the archaeological potential of the wider site. The limited number 
of boreholes means that it is difficult to draw effective conclusions about the specific 
archaeological remains identified by the HEA. Of the 10 boreholes attempted, three failed. 
Two of these were located on the eastern bank of the Witham, and one appears to have 

54



been drilled within a 19th century ditch. It is therefore impossible to use the borehole 
survey to establish the archaeological potential of the development east of the Witham 
from this survey.  
 
The area to the west of the Witham appears more likely to have been accurately 
represented by the borehole survey, but in general rather than specific terms. It has 
apparently demonstrated that large areas of the western side of the site may be covered 
by deep layers of 19th century made ground associated with the railway. This means that it 
is likely that, in these areas, the shallow foundation elements proposed are unlikely to 
impact archaeological remains of any great significance. However, despite the fact that no 
prehistoric artefacts were recovered, it cannot be said with certainty that there are no 
prehistoric remains in the development area. This is because of the very small sample size 
represented by the borehole survey. 
 

 Further Evaluation 
 
The applicants have been unable to undertake further evaluation at this stage of the 
application process, due to the fact that there are existing buildings on the site. However, 
the potential archaeological remains on the site are such that it is not possible to devise an 
appropriate mitigation strategy without further intrusive evaluation. This evaluation should 
enable a full picture of the archaeological significance of the site to be created, and may 
include geophysical survey, further boreholes, and, most likely, evaluation trenching.  
The applicants have indicated that they are happy to undertake such evaluation prior to 
the submission of further applications, and it is considered that this is an acceptable and 
proportionate course of action. 
 
iv) Assessment of Impact 
 
As very little detailed information has been submitted at this stage, it is not possible to 
understand the location and extent of impacts with any accuracy. However, it can be 
inferred from the application that the general types of impact of development upon buried 
archaeology are likely to be as described by the HEA. 
 
v) Summary 
 
The applicant has not yet been able to undertake a detailed evaluation of the likely 
significance of archaeological remains on the site or to understand the impact of their 
proposals. It is therefore impossible at this stage to recommend a mitigation strategy for 
the proposed development. This is an understandable consequence of the site being in 
active use, but means that the application as it currently stands does not fulfil the 
requirements of the Framework (Paragraph 128).  
 
However, given the information provided by the applicant so far, and available from the 
Lincoln Heritage Database, it does not appear likely that there will be archaeological 
remains on the site that are of such significance as to warrant the refusal of planning 
permission. The future submission of a reserved matters application offers an opportunity 
for the applicant to address the requirements of Paragraph 128 with a clearer idea of what 
the specific impacts of development will be. 
 
It is therefore recommended that, notwithstanding the lack of information available at this 
stage, the outline planning permission should be subject to appropriate archaeological 
conditions requiring the applicant to undertake detailed field evaluation ahead of and 

55



informative to any subsequent reserved matters application. The applicant should also be 
required to provide full details of proposed foundation designs for approval by the Local 
Planning Authority. This will enable an appropriate mitigation strategy to be prepared, in 
line with the requirements of Paragraph 141. 
 
Officers fully endorse the approach advocated by the City Archaeologist and are satisfied 
that these recommendations would accord with the advice provided by Historic England, to 
undertake archaeological boreholes and evaluation. 
 
b) Land Contamination 
 
i)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
As with air quality, Paragraph 109 of the Framework also refers to contamination. 
Paragraph 120 expands upon this and suggests that “to prevent unacceptable risks from 
pollution and land instability, planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location. The effects (including cumulative effects) of 
pollution on health, the natural environment or general amenity, and the potential 
sensitivity of the area or proposed development to adverse effects from pollution, should 
be taken into account. Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, 
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.”  
 
In addition Paragraph 121 states that planning decisions “should also ensure that:  
 

 the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, 
pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

 after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined 
as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and 

 adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
presented.” 

 
In terms of Local Plan policies, given the location of the site, Policy LP16 directly refers to 
the requirements of development in relation to contaminated land. 
 
ii)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals 
 
The Environmental Statement includes a Ground Conditions Preliminary Risk Assessment 
(Technical Appendix 2.3) and The Environment Agency has reported that the report 
provides them with confidence that it will be possible to suitably manage the risk posed to 
controlled waters by the development. However, further detailed information will be 
required before built development is undertaken. The proposals would result in the 
redevelopment of the site which would lead to remediation of any contamination. In light of 
this, officers are advised that planning conditions should be imposed to deal with land 
contamination. This has also been agreed by the Environment Agency. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56



c) Ecology, Biodiversity and Arboriculture          

 
i)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF requires LPAs to conserve and enhance biodiversity by 
refusing planning permission where significant harm resulting from a development cannot 
be avoided, mitigated or compensated for. Meanwhile, Policy LP21 refers to biodiversity 
and requires development proposals to “protect, manage and enhance the network of 
habitats, species and sites of international, national and local importance (statutory and 
non-statutory), including sites that meet the criteria for selection as a Local Site; minimise 
impacts on biodiversity and geodiversity; and seek to deliver a net gain in biodiversity and 
geodiversity.” The policy then goes on to consider the implications of any harm associated 
with development and how this should be mitigated. 
 
ii)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals 
 
Section 11 of the Environmental Statement is directed towards Ecology and proposes a 
series of mitigation measures. This is supported by Technical Appendix 11.1, which 
contains the Ecological Appraisal for the development. 
 
The application confirms that there are no statutory designated nature conservation sites 
located within the boundaries of the site. However, the River Witham is part of the River 
Witham Corridor Local Wildlife Site (LWS), and meets with the Fossdyke Navigation at 
Brayford Pool, approximately 170m north of the application site. Of particular interest is the 
fact that there is a low potential for bats to use the bridges on-site and the use of lighting 
along the river corridor requires appropriate design, positioning and technology so as to 
balance potential effects on bats/otter with the minimum requirements for a safe lighting 
scheme in this area. 
 
In terms of the responses received to the application, Natural England support the 
enhancement of green infrastructure but do not provide any specific comments on matters 
of ecology; and the Canal and River Trust has advised that the construction management 
plan for the site includes measures to protect the River Witham and Brayford Pool. 
Comments received from Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust are more extensive. 
 
The mitigation measures contained within the application relate to existing and proposed 
planting (including to building roofs); nesting and invertebrate boxes; a lighting scheme 
sympathetic to wildlife; surface water drainage to the river; construction management and 
timing of works; and maintenance of habitat. Overall there would be a net increase in 
habitat with the development once they are established but the loss of trees and other 
vegetation during construction would lead to a temporary loss in habitat. In particular, the 
river corridor habitat will benefit from net biodiversity gain. 
 
Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust support the proposed mitigation measures but recommend 
additional mitigation in the form of bat boxes situated in mature trees or as part of the 
buildings themselves; and the inclusion of additional wildflower planting but suggest that 
decking along the river frontage is minimised. These recommendations are reasonable 
and not unreasonable in the context of the importance of the implications upon the 
designated site. 
 
Consequently, the applicant should implement the recommendations arising from their 
ecological appraisal, except where advised by the LWT, as it is anticipated that all 

57



potential impacts from the scheme can be appropriately mitigated in conformity with 
relevant planning policy and legislation relating to ecology. Subject to this being satisfied 
by condition, it is considered that ecology would not represent an insurmountable 
constraint to development. Given that this can be dealt with by condition it is considered 
that there would not be conflict with any of the above policies. 
 
8) Planning Balance 
 
A conclusion whether a development is sustainable is a decision that has to be taken in 
the round having regard to all of the dimensions that go to constitute sustainable 
development. 
 
In this case, officers consider that the development would deliver economic and social 
sustainability directly through the construction of the development and the uses proposed 
therein; and indirectly through the occupation of the apartments, spend in the City and 
retention/creation of other jobs due to the location of the development within the City. The 
location of additional residential development in a sustainable location would not 
undermine this position, rather it would provide additional choice within the Primary 
Shopping Area. 
 
With a suitably designed development and signed s106 Agreement covering the off-site 
contributions (improvements to pedestrian crossings, affordable housing, education and 
playing fields / play space), the implications upon the character of the area and the impact 
of the development upon the general amenities would not have negative sustainability 
implications for the local community, as they would lead to a development that would be 
socially sustainable. Moreover, the Council’s within Central Lincolnshire have determined 
that policies specifically referring to contributions from developers in relation to health 
provision and revised provision of affordable housing will not be applied to applications for 
development received prior to the adoption of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
Notwithstanding this, on balance officers recognise that the development would deliver 
substantial wider benefits to the City and wider Central Lincolnshire area, as referred to 
throughout the report, including in relation to the health and social wellbeing of those living 
within the city given the direct improvements to the public realm and river corridor. 
 
What is more, with suitable schemes to deal with air quality, archaeology, contamination, 
drainage and ecology, amongst others, the development would be environmentally 
sustainable.  
 
Thus, assessing the development as a whole in relation to its economic, social and 
environmental dimensions and benefits, officers are satisfied that the proposals could be 
considered as sustainable development and would accord with the Local Plan and 
Framework. 
 
Application negotiated either at pre-application or during process of application 
 
Yes. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
The proposals would offer benefits to economic and social sustainability through spend by 
new and existing residents and visitors, jobs created/sustained through construction and 
the operation of the development respectively. In addition, there would residential 

58



properties that would be subject to council tax payments. What is more, the Council would 
receive monies towards the upgrade of playing fields and play space locally; as well as 
off-site payments to provide affordable housing; and contributions toward the County 
Council for highway improvements and education. 
 
Legal Implications 
 
The signing of the s106 Agreement would require legal advice and input. 
 
Equality Implications 
 
None. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The presumption in favour of sustainable development required by the National Planning 
Policy Framework would apply to the proposals as there would not be conflict with the 
three strands of sustainability that would apply to development as set out in the planning 
balance. Therefore, there would not be harm caused by approving the development. As 
such, it is considered that the application should benefit from planning permission for the 
reasons identified in the report and subject to the conditions outlined below; and the s106 
agreement for the payments towards offsite provision of playing fields and play space; 
affordable housing; education and highway improvements. 
 
Application Determined within Target Date 
 
Yes, subject to the signing of the s106 agreement. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That authority is delegated to the Planning Manager to grant outline planning permission 
subject to the issues covered by the planning conditions listed below and the signing of the 
s106 Agreement for the for the payments towards offsite provision of playing fields and 
play space; affordable housing; education and highway improvements. The development 
should therefore only be granted subject to the S106 and planning conditions covering the 
matters listed below:- 
 

 Time Limits and Submission of Reserved Matters; 

 Approved Plans and Documents; 

 Compliance with the Parameters and Design Codes (except where indicated 
otherwise, i.e. the river corridor and the student accommodation, as advised by 
Historic England / Conservation Officer and in the applicant’s assessment 
respectively); 

 Phasing Programme; 

 Samples of Materials (including hard surfaces and boundary treatments); 

 Large Scale Details of Façades; 

 Hard and Soft Landscaping; 

 Car Park Design; 

 Highway Access and Layout (including land saved for East West Link); 

 Travel Plan; 

 Street Furniture and Signage; 

 Construction Management (including delivery times and working hours, construction 

59



access and the location of site compounds); 

 Layout and Internal Arrangement of Residential Units; 

 Temporary Fencing and Enclosures (during construction); 

 Tree Protection and Works; 

 Waste Collection, Recycling and Storage; 

 Site Drainage (surface water drainage with no infiltration); 

 Design of Combined Heat and Power Plant and Associated Structures; 

 Details of Temporary Sales / Marketing Suites; 

 Cycle Parking; 

 Ecology (mitigation and enhancement; and precise location of deck areas to be 
informed by further assessment of immediate context prior to the submission of 
RM). 

 Flood risk mitigation, including floor levels; 

 Archaeology; 

 Contaminated Land; 

 Solar Glare mitigation; 

 Noise Assessment and Attenuation; and 

 Air Quality Mitigation and Electric Vehicle Recharging. 
 
Report by Planning Manager 

60



Plans 
 

 
Site Location Plan 

61



 

 
Site Location Plan Imposed on Aerial Shot of Site 

62



 
Proposed Accesses 
 

63



 
East West Link Alignment and Access to the Site 

 

64



 
Multi Storey Car Park Access and Ground Floor Layout 

65



 
Development Plot Building Lines 
 
 

66



 
Proposed Uses 
 

67



 
Landscape Parameter Plan 
 

68



Indicative Imagery 
 

 
Indicative Aerial View of Site

69



Indicative Photo Images of Potential Development 
 

 
View West from Debenhams towards Western side of Development 

(Student Accommodation in Distance Centrally Beyond Anchor Store) 
 

 
View South Along River Witham Corridor toward Leisure Use 

70



 
View East from Within Development between Hotel (left) and Student 

Accommodation (right) 
 

 
View East Within Development between Anchor Store (left) and Refaced Retail Units 

(right); Leisure Use in distance (to right) and Debenhams (central) 
 

71



 
View West Across the River Witham 

 

 
View Along River Witham Corridor 

72



 
View North within a Courtyard of the Student Accommodation Blocks 

(Glimpse View of Hotel) 
 

 
View North of the Central Spine of the Student Accommodation towards the Hotel 

 

73



 
View east from Tritton Road Roundabout towards the site 

(Hotel to left and Residential / Student Accommodation to right) 

74



Site Photographs 
 

 
St. Marks Shopping Centre (Corner of High Street / St. Mark Street) 

 

 
St. Marks Shopping Centre (Entrance from High Street) 

75



 
St. Marks Shopping Centre (Adjacent to Debenhams) 

 

 
St. Marks Shopping Centre (Albert Square) 

76



 
View North of River Witham (from Multi-Storey Car Park) 

 

 
View North of River Witham Corridor (from Bridge over River Witham) 

77



 
View Southwest of St. Marks Retail Park and River Witham Corridor 

(from Bridge over River Witham) 
 

 
View West over St. Marks Retail Park from Multi-Storey Car Park 

 

78



 
View West of St. Marks Retail Park (from Bridge over River Witham) 

 

 
View West Adjacent to Existing Access from Rope Walk 

79



 
View West Adjacent to Existing Access from Rope Walk 

 

 
View east from within Retail Park Car Park 

80



 
View North along Tritton Road at Junction with Beevor Street 

 

 
View North of Southern Boundary of the Site (Currently occupied by Homebase) 

81



 
View North West of Site from Junction of Beevor Street / Firth Road 

 

 
View North of Terraced Housing adjacent to Southern Boundary of Site 

82



 
View Northeast along Firth Road (Siemens to right) 

 

 
View East along Firth Road (rear of St. Marks Retail Park units to left) 

 

83



 
View North along Western Side of River Witham from Firth Road 

 

 
View North along River Witham from Firth Road Pedestrian Bridge 

84



 
View North along Eastern Side of River Witham from Firth Road 

 

 
View Northeast of rear Servicing Yard of St. Marks Shopping Centre (Firth Road) 

 

85



 
View Northwest of the Multi Storey Car Park from Firth Road 

 

 
View West along Rope Walk Opposite Brayforfd Wharf East 

86



 
View of Junction of Brayford Wharf East with Rope Walk / St. Mark Street 

 

 
View East along St. Mark Street 

(Vehicular Entrance to Shopping Centre Between Debenhams and Toby Carvery) 

87



This page is intentionally blank.



Consultation Responses 
 
Anglian Water 
 
ASSETS 
 
Section 1 – Assets Affected 
  
1.1 There are assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject to an adoption 

agreement within or close to the development boundary that may affect the layout 
of the site. Anglian Water would ask that the following text be included within your 
Notice should permission be granted. 

 
“Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets 
subject to an adoption agreement. Therefore the site layout should take this into 
account and accommodate those assets within either prospectively adoptable 
highways or public open space. If this is not practicable then the sewers will need 
to be diverted at the developers cost under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 
1991. or, in the case of apparatus under an adoption agreement, liaise with the 
owners of the apparatus. It should be noted that the diversion works should 
normally be completed before development can commence.”  

 
WASTEWATER SERVICES  
 
Section 2 – Wastewater Treatment  
 
2.1 The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Canwick Water 

Recycling Centre that will have available capacity for these flows.  
 
Section 3 – Foul Sewerage Network  
 
3.1 Development will lead to an unacceptable risk of flooding downstream. Anglian 

Water has carried out a Drainage Impact Assessment to determine mitigation 
measures. We will request a condition requiring the drainage strategy covering 
the issue(s) to be agreed.  

 
Section 4 – Surface Water Disposal  
 
4.1 The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable 

drainage system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as the last option.  
 

Building Regulations (part H) on Drainage and Waste Disposal for England 
includes a surface water drainage hierarchy, with infiltration on site as the 
preferred disposal option, followed by discharge to watercourse and then 
connection to a sewer.  

 
4.2 The surface water strategy/flood risk assessment submitted with the planning 

application relevant to Anglian Water is unacceptable. We would therefore 
recommend that the applicant needs to consult with Anglian Water and the Lead 
Local Flood Authority (LLFA). 

89



 
We request a condition requiring a drainage strategy covering the issue(s) to be 
agreed. 
 
Section 5 – Trade Effluent  
 
5.1 The planning application includes employment/commercial use. To discharge 

trade effluent from trade premises to a public sewer vested in Anglian Water 
requires our consent. It is an offence under section 118 of the Water Industry Act 
1991 to discharge trade effluent to sewer without consent. Anglian Water would 
ask that the following text be included within your Notice should permission be 
granted.  

 
“An application to discharge trade effluent must be made to Anglian Water and 
must have been obtained before any discharge of trade effluent can be made to 
the public sewer. 

 
Anglian Water recommends that petrol / oil interceptors be fitted in all car 
parking/washing/repair facilities. Failure to enforce the effective use of such 
facilities could result in pollution of the local watercourse and may constitute an 
offence.  

 
Anglian Water also recommends the installation of a properly maintained fat 
traps on all catering establishments. Failure to do so may result in this and other 
properties suffering blocked drains, sewage flooding and consequential 
environmental and amenity impact and may also constitute an offence under 
section 111 of the Water Industry Act 1991.”  

 
Section 6 – Suggested Planning Conditions  
 

Anglian Water would therefore recommend the following planning condition if the 
Local Planning Authority is mindful to grant planning approval.  

 
Foul Sewerage Network (Section 3)  
 

CONDITION  
No development shall commence until a foul water strategy has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwellings shall 
be occupied until the works have been carried out in accordance with the foul 
water strategy so approved unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
REASON  
To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding.  

 
Surface Water Disposal (Section 4)  
 

CONDITION  
No drainage works shall commence until a surface water management strategy 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

90



No hard-standing areas to be constructed until the works have been carried out 
in accordance with the surface water strategy so approved unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON  
To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding. 

 
 
Canal & River Trust 
 
Thank you for your consultation.  
 
The Canal & River Trust (the Trust) is the guardian of 2,000 miles of historic waterways 
across England and Wales. We are among the largest charities in the UK. Our vision 
is that “living waterways transform places and enrich lives”. We are a statutory 
consultee in the development management process.  
 
The Trust has reviewed the application. Based upon the information available we have 
the following advice to offer: 
 
The River Witham flows northwards through the application site, and into Brayford 
Pool, some 175m to the north of the application site. The Trust manages and maintains 
Brayford Pool and the River Witham from its exit from the Pool as far as the Grand 
Sluice at Boston. We do not however manage the river to the south of Brayford Pool, 
and the site is some 25m beyond the area notified to you for consulting with the Canal 
& River Trust. The Trust is not therefore a statutory consultee for this planning 
application. 
 
We note that the submitted Environmental Statement sets out a range of mitigation 
and environmental management controls and at Chapter 5 recommends the 
implementation of a Construction Environment Management Plan during all demolition 
and construction operations. Measures to minimise water pollution are addressed in 
more detail within Chapter 12 of the Environmental Statement. We would recommend 
that you consider securing appropriate protection measures via suitably worded 
planning conditions to minimise the risk of demolition or construction work resulting in 
the release of contaminants into the river or otherwise adversely affecting water 
quality. As the river flows into Brayford Pool, the impact of any such incidents is likely 
to affect water quality within the Pool and also the Fossdyke Canal and the stretch of 
the Witham east of the Pool, all of which are managed by the Trust; we are therefore 
keen to see this risk minimised. 
 
Environment Agency 
 
I am writing in response to your consultation on the above planning application and 
the additional information submitted on 17 February 2017.  
 
Groundwater Contamination  
 

91



We have reviewed the Environmental Statement, including Technical Appendix 2.3 – 
Preliminary Risk Assessment report (ref: UK11-23390) by Ramboll Environ, dated 
January 2017. 
 
The previous industrial use of the proposed development site presents a high risk of 
contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute controlled waters. 
Controlled waters are particularly sensitive in this location because the proposed 
development site is located upon Alluvial Sands and Gravels classified as a Secondary 
A aquifer. In addition, any shallow groundwater below the site may be in hydraulic 
connection with the River Witham which flows through the eastern part of the site. 
 
The Preliminary Risk Assessment Report submitted in support of this planning 
application provides us with confidence that it will be possible to suitably manage the 
risk posed to controlled waters by this development. Further detailed information will 
however be required before built development is undertaken. It is our opinion that it 
would place an unreasonable burden on the developer to ask for more detailed 

information prior to the granting of planning permission but respect that this is a 
decision for the Local Planning Authority to undertake.  
 
In light of the above, the proposed development will be acceptable if a planning 
condition is included requiring the submission of a remediation strategy, carried out by 
a competent person in line with paragraph 121 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF).  
 
Without these conditions we would object to the proposal in line with paragraph 109 
of the NPPF because it cannot be guaranteed that the development will not be put at 
unacceptable risk from, or be adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution. 
 
Condition 1 
 
Prior to each phase of development approved by this planning permission no 
development shall commence until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks 
associated with contamination of the site has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include the following 
components:  
1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:  

 all previous uses;  

 potential contaminants associated with those uses;  

 a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; 
and  

 potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.  
2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 

assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off 
site.  

3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to 
in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving 
full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be 
undertaken.  

92



4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete 
and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.  

 
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason (Condition 1) 
To ensure that the development is not put at unacceptable risk from, or adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels water pollution in line with paragraph 109 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
We consider that the Preliminary Risk Assessment report is sufficient to satisfy Part 1 
of this Condition. A comprehensive assessment of the risks from contamination should 
be undertaken as part of this development, particularly for those areas not previously 
addressed (i.e. to the west of the River Witham). We recommend that developers 
should:  
1. Follow the risk management framework provided in CLR11, Model Procedures 

for the Management of Land Contamination, when dealing with land affected by 
contamination. 

2. Refer to the Environment Agency Guiding principles for land contamination for 
the type of information that we required in order to assess risks to controlled 
waters from the site. The Local Authority can advise on risk to other receptors, 
such as human health. 

3. Consider using the National Quality Mark Scheme for Land Contamination 
Management which involves the use of competent persons to ensure that land 
contamination risks are appropriately managed. 

4. Refer to the contaminated land pages on GOV.UK for more information.  
 
Condition 2 
Prior to each phase of development being brought into use, a verification report 
demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy 
and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, 
by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and 
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to 
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.  
 
Reason (Condition 2) 
To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the water 
environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan 
have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with 
paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Condition 3 
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how 
this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by 

93



the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as 
approved.  
 
Reasons (Condition 3) 
To ensure that the development is not put at unacceptable risk from, or adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels water pollution from previously unidentified 
contamination sources at the development site in line with paragraph 109 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Condition 4 
No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with 
the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reasons (Condition 4)  
To reduce the risk of pollution to controlled waters.  
 
The previous use of the proposed development site presents a high risk of 
contamination which could be mobilised by surface water infiltration from proposed 
sustainable drainage system (SuDS), such as soakaways, leading to pollution of 
controlled waters. Controlled waters are particularly sensitive in this location because 
the proposed development site is located upon a Secondary A aquifer, with the River 
Witham flowing through the site. 
 
In light of the above, we believe that the use of infiltration SuDS may not be appropriate 
in this location. 
 
Flood Risk Mitigation  
 
The proposed development will only meet the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework if the following measures as detailed in the Flood Risk Assessment 
and additional information submitted with this application are implemented and 
secured by way of a planning condition on any planning permission.  
 
Condition 5 
The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (ref: UK14-23390, dated: 
24/01/2017) and the Additional Flood Risk Information (ref: LUK11-23390, dated: 
16/02/2017) including the following mitigation measures detailed within:  
1. Finished floor levels for the development shall be set as follows:  

 Block 1 will be set at a minimum of 5.1m above Ordnance Datum (AOD).  

 Block 4 will be set no lower than 6.0m above Ordnance Datum (AOD).  

 Block 5 will be set no lower than 5.7m above Ordnance Datum (AOD).  

 All residential accommodation will be set at a minimum of 5.7m above 
Ordnance Datum (AOD).  

 
2. Flood resilient construction will be used where the finished floor level for non-

residential uses is below the on-site flood level.  
 

94



The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within 
the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by 
the local planning authority.  
 
Reason (Condition 5)  
To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants.  
 
Informatives regarding flood risk  
 
The applicant will need to ensure they have an appropriate evacuation plan in place. 
This should be approved by the Local Authority. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority will be responsible for approving the proposals for 
surface water management for this development. However, if there are any proposals 
to discharge surface water to the River Witham we will need to be consulted to ensure 
this proposal will not increase fluvial flood risk. 
 
Environmental Permitting Regulations – information for the applicant 
 
The submitted plans show that there will be changes around the River Witham 
corridor. This includes decking areas, planting of trees, landscaping and potential 
changes to the existing bridge. These may require a permit under the Environmental 
Permitting (England and Wales) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2016 from the 
Environment Agency for any proposed works or structures, in, under, over or within 
eight metres of the top of the bank of the River Witham, designated a ‘main river’. This 
was formerly called a Flood Defence Consent. Some activities are also now excluded 
or exempt. A permit is separate to and in addition to any planning permission granted. 
Further details and guidance are available on the GOV.UK website: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits.  
 
The retaining wall of the existing car park also acts as a flood defence where there is 
an area of low land. There will need to be detailed discussions on how the 
redevelopment of this part of the site can ensure that the standards of protection are 
not reduced. 
 
We strongly encourage the applicant to hold additional pre-application discussions 
with us before detailed plans are progressed further. Please contact 
psolincs@environment-agency.gov.uk when ready. 
 
Please be aware that these discussions may influence the landscaping proposals 
which are either subject to this application or a planning condition, should one be 
applied. 
 
 
Historic England 
 
Thank you for your letter of 8 March 2017 regarding the above application for planning 
permission. On the basis of the information available to date, we offer the following 
advice to assist your authority in determining the application. 

95



 
Historic England Advice 
The application for outline planning permission is for a comprehensive retail-led 
mixeduse scheme including demolition and alteration of existing buildings, 
engineering works, construction of new buildings, and new pedestrian and vehicle 
access routes. 
 
Significance 
The site of proposed scheme covers a large area in the city centre bounded by 
Ropewalk, High Street, Firth Road and Beevor Street. The site lies within the setting 
of Lincoln Cathedral (listed grade I as one of the 3% of listed buildings which are of 
exceptional architectural and historic interest) and within the setting of a number of 
other designated heritage assets, including on the historic hillside on the north 
escarpment and St Mark’s station (listed grade II) The proposed scheme also partly 
lies within the West Parade and Brayford conservation area. 
 
A key part of the cathedral’s significance and setting, located as it is on the north 
escarpment high above the Witham gap and lower city, is that it dominates the city, 
skyline and surrounding landscape. The cathedral is located within the historic 
townscape on the north escarpment which forms a central part of the Cathedral and 
City Centre conservation area and includes the newly revealed Lincoln Castle (a 
scheduled monument) and many other highly designated heritage assets. 
 
Views to and from the cathedral and the historic hillside contribute greatly to Lincoln 
as an historic city as well as the setting and significance of the cathedral and other 
designated heritage assets, and the character and appearance of the Cathedral and 
City Centre conservation area. These include views towards the cathedral along the 
River Witham, which was historically an important route into the city, and wider views 
that encompass large areas of the historic hillside around the cathedral, e.g. from 
South Common. Views from the historic hillside on the north escarpment down 
towards the Brayford and lower city also contribute to the setting and significance of 
the conservation area 
 
Lincoln also possesses an archaeological resource of international importance. The 
proposed development is located within the alluvial floodplain of the River Witham in 
an area where the potential for deeply buried deposits and waterlogging are likely to 
increase the likelihood for survival of sensitive archaeological remains of high 
significance to the history of the city. 
 
Impact of the proposed scheme 
Conservation area and setting of designated heritage assets 
We have no objection to the proposed demolitions. We also welcome in principle the 
proposals to provide a coherent block structure which better integrates with the 
existing city centre, including by providing good east-west access and quality public 
spaces. The proposed buildings along the Witham to the north of the main bridge 
within the site are sufficiently well set back to reduce the impact on the views along 
the river of the cathedral and historic hillside. We would not support bringing the 
frontage of these buildings closer towards the river as suggested in the Parameters 
Plan and recommend that this element is removed from the proposals. Your authority 
would also need to be satisfied that the height of these buildings would provide the 

96



right sense of enclosure and would not overly dominate the cathedral in views along 
the Witham. We welcome the public realm proposals to enliven the riverside which will 
allow enhanced enjoyment of views towards the cathedral. 
 
We consider that the buildings fronting onto Tritton Way are sufficiently set back and 
low enough to minimise the impact of views of the cathedral and historic hillside from 
Tritton Way. 
 
We advise that your authority should ensure that the proposed tall buildings are not 
overly obtrusive in longer views of the cathedral and city, particularly from South 
Common. As well as consideration of the height and scale of the taller buildings 
proposed, a reduction in impact could, in part, be achieved by variation of material 
and/or sufficient modulation on the south and east facing elevations. 
 
Non-Designated Archaeological Resource 
The Historic Environment Assessment (HEA) provides a clear description of the high 
potential for the preservation of archaeological remains on the proposed development 
site and their likely date and significance, as well as the potential impact on those 
remains. High potential for palaeoenvironmental, prehistoric, Roman, Saxon and 
medieval (including monastic), and industrial remains from the 17th/18th centuries is 
identified. The HEA assesses the likely significance of these potential archaeological 
remains, including human remains, judging that in most cases this would be high. 
 
We advise that the approach taken to assessment of archaeological remains (chapter 
7) should take its cue from the sensitivity of individual assets and groups of assets to 
the specific types of change associated with development and their capacity to absorb 
the effects of such change within their settings, rather than focusing on the relative 
value of individual assets in a tabular and atomised approach to the assessment of 
impact on individual heritage assets. In our view the latter approach usually fails to 
properly engage with the nature of the significance of the assets and their relationships 
with each other, the surrounding urban and topographic landscape, and their shared 
historic and archaeological landscape context. 
 
A well informed and nuanced approach to mitigation is required with developments on 
complex sites such as this based on an appropriate level of prior evaluation supported 
by initial desk based research. In our experience it is unlikely that this can be achieved 
productively post determination when the scale and outline of the proposals have 
already been agreed. We therefore do not agree that it is appropriate for 
archaeological evaluation on this site to be dealt with under a planning condition. We 
are aware that an archaeological borehole survey has taken place but we have not 
identified the report on this work within the application documentation. This should 
provide an initial guide to assist in modelling the deposits across the site and 
understanding the differential potential for preservation relative to the likely impacts of 
the development. 
 
Your authority should ensure that you have received both the archaeological borehole 
survey and the results of any further archaeological evaluation your specialist 
archaeological advisor indicates is necessary to inform your determination of this 
application, prior to determining this application. Without sufficient information at this 
stage it will not be possible for you take an informed approach to decision-taking 

97



regarding the archaeological remains, including human remains, preserved on the site 
as set out in Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 2 on ‘Managing Significance in 
Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment’ and in published advice ‘Preservation of 
Archaeological Remains’ (Historic England, 2016: 
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/preserving-
archaeologicalremains/). You should ensure overall that you have sufficient 
information regarding the archaeological resource preserved on the site, and the 
design of the proposed foundation structure to enable you to understand the impact 
the development will have on those remains and make your determination in line with 
the policies and requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Legislation, policy and guidance 
The statutory requirement to have special regard to the desirability of preserving a 
listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses (section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act, 1990) must be taken into account by your authority in determining this 
application. 
 
The statutory requirement to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area (s.72, 1990 Act) must 
also be taken into account by your authority in determining this application. 
 
Our advice is provided in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
the NPPF Planning Practice Guide, and in good practice advice notes produced by 
Historic England on behalf of the Historic Environment Forum including Managing 
Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment and The Setting of 
Heritage Assets. 
 
The NPPF states that in any application for planning permission your authority should 
aim to achieve the objective of sustainable development which means guiding 
development towards a solution that achieves economic, social and environmental 
gains jointly and simultaneously (paragraph 8). An environmental gain in any 
planning application that affects the historic environment would be the continued 
conservation of heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance so that 
they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future 
generations - a core planning principle (paragraph 17, NPPF). 
Paragraph 128 of the Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
advises that in determining applications, local planning authorities should require an 
applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected. The level of 
detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient 
to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. Local planning 
authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset 
that may be affected by a proposal taking account of the available evidence and any 
necessary expertise (NPPF, paragraph 129). Paragraph 129 also states that local 
authorities should take this assessment into account when considering the impact of 
a proposal on a heritage asset to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage 
asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 
 
Your authority should also take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing 
the significance of heritage assets (paragraph 131, NPPF). The NPPF goes on to say 

98

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/preserving-archaeologicalremains/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/preserving-archaeologicalremains/


that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to its conservation, 
(paragraph 132). Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction 
of the heritage asset or development within its setting. Whilst some are given equal 
importance, no other planning concern is given a greater sense of importance in the 
NPPF. Any harm or loss to significance ‘should require clear and convincing 
justification’ (paragraph 132, NPPF). 
 
Recommendation 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. We 
consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be addressed 
in order for the application to meet the requirements of NPPF, including paragraphs 
128 and 129. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, 
safeguards or further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material 
changes to the proposals, or you would like further advice, please contact us. 
 
Lincoln Civic Trust 
 
No objection to the overall Outline plan. We are again concerned about the movement 
of the Retail focus away from the traditional City Centre. We accept that the site has 
become tired and is in need of renewal but the size and scope of the project could 
have a serious impact on the main High Street.  

 
We are further concerned about the provision of more student accommodation within 
the project. It is accepted that there is a growing need for student accommodation 
within the city but this site is on the wrong side of the East/West link road to the 
University and hence there is a safety problem with students moving from university 
to accommodation. There will also be periods in the year when the site will be largely 
deserted and is not within a controlled security area.  
 
Finally we feel that a more detailed analysis of the vehicle access and movement 
connected with the site needs to be completed. The full impact of the new East/West 
link road has yet to realised and it is felt that with the introduction of a large multi-
storey car park and hotel, the area could become a major problem.  

99



Lincolnshire County Council (Economic Development) 
 

 

 
 
  

100



Lincolnshire County Council, as Education Authority 
 
Thank you for you notification of 07 February 2017, concerning the proposed 
development at the above site. I have now had the opportunity to consider the impact 
on the local schools reasonably accessible from the development. Please see below 
overview in relation to the impact, and details for primary, secondary and sixth-form 
that follow.  
 
Overview  
 
Please see below table in relation to the number of places required and available in 
local schools from/for the proposed development: 
 

 
 
Please note, where an application is outline a formulaic approach will be taken in a 
section 106 agreement, this may result in a higher contribution if a high proportion of 
large houses are built. This would be finalised at the reserved matters stage. All 
section 106 agreements should include indexation using the Tender Price Index of the 
Royal Town Planning Institute Building Cost Information Services (RICS BCIS TPI). 
 
The above contributions would be spent on the following: 
 

 
 
Detail 
 
The below table indicates the number of pupils generated by the proposed 
development. This is on the basis of research by Lincolnshire Research Observatory 
utilised to calculate Pupil Production Ratio (PPR) multiplied by the number of homes 
proposed. 

 
Capacity is assessed using the County Council's projected capacity levels at 2019/20, 
this is the point when it is reasonable to presume that the development would be 
complete or well on the way. 

101



 

 
 
As the development would result in a direct impact on local schools, a contribution is 
therefore requested to mitigate the impact of the development at local level. This is a 
recognisable and legitimate means of addressing an impact on infrastructure, accords 
with the NPPF (2012) and fully complies with CIL regulations; we feel it is necessary, 
directly related, and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 
proposed in this application.  
 
The level of contribution sought in this case is in line with the below table. 
 

 
 
*current cost multiplier per pupil place based on National Cost Survey  
**to reduce cost and to reflect Lincolnshire's lower than average build cost compared 
to national average  
 
We would suggest the s.106 monies are paid at the halfway point in the development 
to allow timely investment by the County Council whilst not adversely affecting the 
developer's viability.  
 
Please note the County Council retains the statutory duty to ensure sufficiency of 
school places and this includes capital funding provision of sufficient places at 
maintained schools, academies and free schools. We would invest the funding at the 
most appropriate local school(s) regardless of their status, but ensure the s.106 
funding is used only to add capacity as this is the only purpose for which it is requested.  
 
I look forward to hearing from you, thank you for your notification of the application 
and thank City of Lincoln Council for your continued cooperation and support. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council, as Highway and Lead Local Flood Authority 
(Final Response 05 June 2017): 
 
At the point of access to the proposed car park, as a result of the proposed 
reconfiguration of the existing access point, an area of land that is currently Highway 
Maintainable at the public expense will fall within the area that is proposed to be used 

102



as car parking. This area is required to be formally stopped up as public highway prior 
to the construction of the development. 
 
Prior to construction the works identified on drawing number W141372/SK/14 dated 
30/05/17, to improve the public highway at the point of access to the proposed car 
park on Rope Walk shall have been certified complete  by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The highway improvement works referred to in the above condition are required to be 
carried out by means of a legal agreement between the County Council as Highway 
authority and the landowner. 
 
The location of the Service Yard is accepted in principle. When a Reserved Matters 
application is made it should include proposals to ensure that safe access and egress 
for users of the access can be achieved. Alterations to the existing road layout and 
signals on Rope Walk may be required to achieve this. 
 
The highway improvement works referred to in the above condition are required to be 
carried out by means of a legal agreement between the County Council as Highway 
authority and the landowner. 
 
Development shall not be occupied until a Framework Travel Plan has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Those parts of the approved 
Travel Plan that are identified therein as being capable of implementation after 
occupation shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable contained therein 
and shall continue to be implemented as long as any part of the development is 
occupied. 
 
Reason: In order that the local planning authority conforms to the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, a Travel Plan has been conditioned to ensure 
that access to the site is sustainable and reduces dependency on the car. 
 
When a Reserved Matters application is made it should include a phasing plan which 
includes details access details for the existing two storey car park at the eastern end 
of the site during the construction phases. 
 
No development shall take place until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, 
based on sustainable urban drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological 
and hydrogeological context of the development has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The scheme shall: 
 
a) Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms 
up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for climate 
change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing local 
drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the run-off rate for 
the undeveloped site; 
 
b) Provide attenuation details and discharge rates. 
 

103



c) Provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of implementation for the 
drainage scheme; and 
 
d) Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the 
lifetime of the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public 
body or Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the 
operation of the drainage system throughout its lifetime. 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved drainage 
scheme and no building/dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has 
been completed or provided on the site in accordance with the approved phasing. The 
approved scheme shall be retained and maintained in full in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Note to Officer: 
 
Please ensure that the land that is required for the second Phase of the East West 
Link, as shown on drawing number W141372/SK/14 dated 30/05/17 is protected by 
planning condition. 
 
A Section 106 contribution of £240,322 is required towards improvements to the 
pedestrian crossing points at the junction of Rope Walk with Brayford Wharf East. 
 
 
Lincolnshire Police 
 
Thank you for your correspondence and the opportunity to comment on the proposed 
scheme. Lincolnshire Police do not have any objections to this development but I 
would like to make the following general recommendations in relation to the safety and 
security of this development. 
 
It is fully appreciated that this outline application is only seeking to establish 
the principle of development and that the finer detail of design will be submitted 
at a later date.  
 
It is disappointing that there does not appear to be any reference within either the 
Design & Access statement or other plans to the steps that the developers will be 
taking to address public safety and security within this development. Clearly this 
development would fall within the principle of a ‘crowded place’ and Lincolnshire Police 
would recommend and advise that the appropriate police specialists are consulted at 
the earliest time. 
 
However, the applicant needs to consider the following advice when drawing up a 
more detailed proposal: 
 
Public Realm & Public Footpath – Concourse or Plaza - St Mark’s Square 
 
Extensive research has been carried out on the effects of blast on glass. There are 
technologies that minimise shattering and therefore casualties as well as the cost of 
re-occupation. 

104



 
Anti-shatter film, which holds fragmented pieces of glass together, offers a relatively 
cheap and rapid improvement to existing glazing. If you are building a new structure 
and are installing windows, consider laminated glass (minimum PAS24:2012) 
 
All ground floor and easily accessible glazing must incorporate one pane of laminated 
glass to a minimum thickness of 6.4mm (See Glossary of terms) or glass successfully 
tested to BS EN 356:2000 Glass in building. Security glazing - resistance to manual 
attack to category P1A unless it is protected by a roller shutter or grille. With effect 
from 1st January 2014 the Secured by Design requirement for all laminated glass in 
commercial premises will be certification to BS EN 356 2000 rating P1A unless it is 
protected by a roller shutter or grille. 
 
Glazed Curtain Walling and Window Walls. 
 
The indicative plans show that throughout the development there is a likely-hood of of 
public domain facing glazing. Whilst there is commonality between differing glazing 
systems which might include police (SBD) recognised systems such as Large glazed 
units connected by a ‘spider clamp’ system, glazed units directly retained within a 
framing system (usually aluminium), framed windows installed within a separate 
framing system or framed windows connected to other framed windows to a create a 
‘window wall’. The above standards of 6.4mm as a minimum thickness with a 
laminated pane still apply. 
 
For information only the following British Standard ‘Codes of Practice’ are relevant: 
 
• BS 5516-1: 2004 Patent glazing and sloping glazing for buildings. Code of practice 
for design and installation of sloping and vertical patent glazing 
 
• BS 5516-2: 2004 Patent glazing and sloping glazing for buildings. Code of practice 
for sloping glazing 
 
Street Furniture 
 
It is now common practice in the UK, encouraged by the National Counter Terrorism 
Security Office, to incorporate subtle protection of crowded places from terrorist or 
criminal attack by the installation of appropriate street furniture that can act as ‘hostile 
vehicle mitigation’. Examples can be seen around Media City, Salford, The Alhambra 
Theatre, Bradford and around the Emirates Stadium, Highbury. This can take the form 
of seating, planters, stepped areas, art installations and bollards. (see also Vehicles 
and Pedestrian Access on Page 3) 
 
Seating: any designated seating should be of a solid construction and of a single 
seat/person design albeit within a linear bench design. Long single benches should 
not be used as they are likely to encourage and facilitate rough sleeping. 
 
The permeability and open ‘public’ access together with street furniture that may allow 
an opportunity for anti-social behaviour and other undesirable activities that are not 
complimentary to its intended or desired purpose should be avoided. 
 

105



Benches, planters and any low level brick construction should make use of studs and 
bar to prevent the use by skate boarders. 
 
Bollards and Benching. 
 

                                                   
 
 
Review the management of all your litter bins and consider the size of their openings, 
their blast mitigation capabilities and location. Keep the fixtures, fittings and furniture 
in such areas to a minimum - ensuring that there is little opportunity to hide devices?  
 
To ensure that features in the street or adjacent building interface with the street 
cannot be used or adapted by those engaged in anti-social behaviour. 
  
Seating as above – all other planters and street furniture to be designed to avoid 
creating ad-hoc seats. Use uneven and varied material surfaces to deter rough 
sleepers or loitering. 
 
Vehicular & Pedestrian Access. 
 
It is appreciated that at the stage of outline planning the detail and operational plan for 
vehicular access to and within the pedestrianised area may not be fully detailed.  
 
However consideration to achieving an acceptable standard of vehicle control should 
be carefully planned for within what would be considered a ‘crowded place’. 
 
Bollards – IWA 14-1-2013 Part 1 International Workshop Agreement standards which 
specifies the essential impact performance requirement for a vehicle security barrier 
(VSB) and a test method for rating its performance when subjected to a single impact 
by a test vehicle not driven by a human being . This replaces PAS 68:2013 
IWA 14-2-2013 Part 2 International Workshop Agreement Standards providing 
guidance for the selection, installation and use of vehicle security barriers (VSBs) and 
describes the process of producing operational requirements. This replaces PAS 
69:2013 
Rising Bollards should have been successfully tested to PAS 68-2:2013 Performance 
Specification for vehicle security barriers – rise and fall bollards 
 
Bollards providing passive protection to areas of a development or building that either 
are not required to have protection against an attack by a vehicle e.g. to keep a fire 
door (opening outwards) clear of obstruction, or where there is no means by which a 
vehicle may have access but a substantial barrier is still required may be tested to BS 
170-1. 
 

106

https://www.broxap.com/street-furnishings/seating/all-steel/ilford.html
https://www.broxap.com/street-furnishings/seating/all-steel/ilford-1207.html


A range of other vehicle mitigation measures are applicable to address a vehicle borne 
attack as an alternative to traditional bollards e.g. substantial planting bollards, raised 
or decorative kerb, steps, or substantial decorative art or signage, seating et al. 
 
Cycle Routes and Storage/security 
 
Routes for pedestrians and cyclists should be integrated to provide a safe and 
supervised network of areas that help to reduce crime and disorder. It is important that 
the physical safety of all users is paramount and that any friction between users is 
avoided, consideration to slow reacting and vulnerable pedestrians should be foremost 
in the mind of designers. 
 
Cycle storage & Security provision:  Whilst Lincoln is a relatively low crime area we 
suffer a level of cycle thefts therefore – avoid furniture (railings) that might be used as 
ad hoc cycle racks. Ensure that arrangements exist to promptly remove cycles or 
component parts that are left in situ – suitable signage should be deployed to inform 
user of this process. 
 
Cycle storage – Cycle-pods – suitable free (or very cheap) cycle storage provision 
should be provided.  
 
Secure bicycle parking should be made available within an appropriate roofed building 
(with all round surveillance that is within view (no more than 100 metres) of occupied 
buildings or CCTV) with ground bolted cycle stands. Galvanised steel bar construction 
(min thickness of 3mm) filled with concrete – minimum foundation 300mm with welded 
anchor bar. This facility should have adequate vandal resistant dedicated energy 
efficient lamps lighting during hours of darkness. www.bikeoff.org/design_resource . 
A design focussed and inviting cycle rack/shed would encourage safe and secure bike 
use where residents feel confident to leave their cycles. If this is not achieved evidence 
strongly supports that cycle use will be reduced and residents will find alternative 
means to store cycles, i.e. in rooms or corridors. 
 
Cycle-Pod Street-pod Secure Cycle Stand  
Certificated to: 
Sold Secure Standard Silver   
Certification held with Sold Secure No PCME/1114/1342 refers 
  
'Street-pod' is robust and secure cycle parking for public locations & sites where bike 
security is a concern.  
Only one lock is required to secure both bike wheels and frame.  Cyclist should use 
their own security rated D-lock to secure their bike to the Street-pod unit. 
 
Lockerpod SS Cycle Locker for business or home securing up to four bikes and 
manufactured in 100% recycleable plastic to Sold Secure Gold Standard 
  
Certificated to: 
Sold Secure Standard when supplied with Sold Secure Gold ground anchor or locking 
point is used. 
Certification held with Sold Secure No PCME/1213/1301 and PCME/1213/1302 refers 
 

107

http://www.bikeoff.org/design_resource


Two-wheeled motor vehicle parking 
 
External parking stores for motor-cycles, mopeds and scooters should be covered 
and located close to and in view of the main building and be provided with 
secure anchor points certified to Sold Secure Silver Standard. Secure containers for 
crash helmets and waterproof clothing are recommended. 
 
CCTV – Public Domain. 
 
The range and scope of any CCTV system on this site may be directly related to the 
proposed minimum staffing levels (i.e. reception and/or security staff) 
 
Such a scheme should be designed to monitor all vulnerable areas and be fit for 
purpose. Any system should be to a minimum of BS EN 50132-7:2012 CCTV 
surveillance systems for use in security applications. Police Response: BS8418:2010 
 
 A useful reference to help achieve this goal is the CCTV Operational Requirements 
Manual 2009 ISBN 978-1-84726-902-7 Published April 2009 by the Home Office 
Scientific Development Branch available at this link CCTV OR Manual  
 
Litter Bins 
 
Avoid the use of litter bins around critical/vulnerable areas of the premises i.e. do not 
place litter bins next to or near glazing, support structures, most sensitive or critical 
areas and make sure they are covered by your CCTV and operators. Ensure that there 
is additional and prompt cleaning in these areas. 
 
Commercial Developments 
 
Intruder / Attack alarms systems (Commercial Developments) 
 
A suitably designed, fit for purpose, monitored intruder alarm system must be installed. 
For police response, the system must comply with the requirements of the ACPO 
Security Systems policy, which can be at the following link: Security Systems Policy 
PD 6662:2010 
 
Landscaping 
 
Any landscaping should be kept to a maximum growth height of 1 metre.  Whilst any 
trees should be pruned up to a minimum height of 2 metres, thereby maintaining a 
clear field of vision around the development. Trees when fully grown should not mask 
any lighting columns or become climbing aids. 
 
Lighting 
 
Lighting should be designed to provide a uniform spread of light with clear colour 
rendition. Lighting incorporated within the perimeter protection should be designed 
including its use with CCTV.  Security lighting, such as metal halide units, should be 
installed in all areas where surveillance is considered important, such as entrances, 

108

http://scienceandresearch.homeoffice.gov.uk/hosdb/publications/cctv-publications/28_09_CCTV_OR_Manual.pdf?view=Standard&pubID=635835


main pedestrian access routes and parking facilities. All fittings shall be vandal 
resistant and positioned out of reach. 
 
Where there is no surveillance, informal or formal, lighting can only assist an offender, 
in such circumstances, appropriate ‘switching off’ of lighting should be considered after 
staff have left designated areas.  
 
Roller Shutters and Grilles (Commercial developments)  
 
Grilles and shutters can provide additional protection to both internal and external 
doors and windows. The minimum standard for such products, when required, is 
certification to 
  

 LPS 1175 Security Rating 1 or  
 WCL 2 Burglary Rating 1 

For roller shutters, the above minimum security ratings are generally sufficient where: 
 

 a shutter is required to prevent minor criminal damage and glass 
breakage or 

 the shutter is alarmed and the building is located within a secure 
development with access control and security patrols or 

 the shutter or grille is intended to prevent access into a recess or  

 the door or window to be protected is of a high security standard in its own 
right. 

Roof and General ventilation / Air Conditioning Systems. 
It is probably that in commercial/ retail development an automated environmental air 
conditioning system may be installed. In this instance it is advised that provision is 
made for automated vents to be alarmed and clearly indicated when open. 
 
Arson and fire protection 
 
If arson is identified as one of the potential risk factors in an area the new industrial 
units or warehouses should be designed with arson prevention in mind.  Architects 
should consult with the fire service and insurance specialists and it is recommended 
that a full cost benefit analysis is undertaken to establish the value of installing a 
sprinkler system.  It is of course possible that the nature of the business conducted in 
the building may require a sprinkler system notwithstanding the crime risk.   
If the analysis recommends that a sprinkler system is required then this will become a 
requirement of Secured by Design for certification purposes.  
 
 Measures that the designer should consider to prevent arson include: 
 

 Deterring unauthorised entry onto the site 

 Preventing unauthorised entry into the building 

 Reducing the opportunity for the potential offender to start a fire 

 Reducing the scope for potential fire damage 
Measures that the building occupier should consider to prevent arson include: 

 Ensuring the designer’s in-built measures are put into practice 

109



 Reducing subsequent losses and disruption to business resulting from a 
fire by preparing a disaster recovery plan 

 The following places of special fire hazard have been identified as such either 
because of the activities in these places could provide opportunity for a fire or the place 
is or contains a valuable resource  
 

 Boiler rooms 

 Storage space for fuel or other highly flammable substances or 
chemicals 

 Laboratories 

 Other rooms with open heat sources 

 Kitchens 

 Oil filled transformer and switch gear rooms 

 Rooms housing a fixed internal combustion engine 
 
Residential Development 
 
Communal Areas & Mail Delivery 
 
Where communal mail delivery facilities are proposed and are to be encouraged with 
other security and safety measures to reduce the need for access to the premises 
communal letter boxes should comply to the following criteria.  
 

 Located at the main entrance within an internal area or lobby (vestibule) 
covered by CCTV or located within an ‘airlock style’ entrance hall. 

 Be of a robust construction (Federation Technical Specification 009 (TS009) 

 Have anti-fishing properties where advised and appropriate. 

 Installed to the manufacturers specifications. 

 Through wall mail delivery can be a suitable and secure method.  
 
Access Control 
 
In the case of a residential unit between four and nine units that share a communal 
entrance such as this development the entrance doors must include an electronic door 
release system and entry phone linked to each unit. Tradesperson door release 
buttons are not permitted. 
 
Windows 
 
All ground floor windows and those that are easily accessible from the ground must 
either conform to PAS24:2016 or equivalent standard ‘Specification for enhanced 
security performance of casement and tilt and turn windows for domestic applications’. 
At ground floor or accessible levels lower hinged forward tilting window sets are to be 
recommended with window restraining devices making access difficult. 
 
All ground floor and easily accessible glazing should incorporate one pane of 
laminated glass to a minimum thickness of 6.8mm (See Glossary of terms) or glass 
successfully tested to BS EN 356:2000 Glass in building. Security glazing - resistance 
to manual attack to category P2A unless it is protected by a roller shutter or grille as 

110



described in paragraphs 52 above.  With effect from January 1st 2011 all laminated 
glass must be certificated to BS EN 356 2000 rating P3A unless it is protected by a 
roller shutter or grille.  
 
External doors 
 
The secured by design requirement for all dwelling external doors is PAS 24.2016 or 
equivalent (3rd party tested) (doors of an enhanced Security) or WCL 1 (WCL 1 is the 
reference number for PAS 23/24 and is published by Warrington Certification 
Laboratories).  
 
Dwelling Frontages 
 
As above the boundaries between public and private space should be clearly defined. 
In most housing developments it would be desirable to have frontages that have clear 
surveillance and are open to view. 
 
Student Accommodation. 
 
Entrances. 
An integrated access system throughout the development (University) using vandal 
proof resistant proximity readers (biometric swipe cards) would allow for any security 
issues following student or staff exclusions. Consideration should be given to the use 
and application of prevailing biometric and voice recognition technology this should be 
discussed with the CPDA at the earliest opportunity? 
This area should be well illuminated and welcoming with the entrance area having a 
clear view of the approaches to the entrance. 
Where a separate automatically opening door is required for disabled access, use 
should be made of a proximity reader and /or biometric swipe card technology. 
The use of an ‘air lock’ system whereby two sets of automatic doors are used, the first 
opening will allow a visitor through with the provision to control sighted access from 
the reception or by remote camera / intercom system. In such an environment it is not 
uncommon for unwanted access to be gained by way of ‘follow through’ access placing 
staff and students at risk of crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
Signage. 
 
Effective use of directional and informative signage can do much to reduce the 
opportunity for any persons accessing the site and not knowing where they should be. 
Site maps and clear directions to a security office or reception will reduce any 
opportunity for unwarranted trespass on the site. 
 
Likewise an effective identity card/ badge system for all persons on the premises can 
significantly enhance security. 
 
Lighting 
 
Lighting should be co-ordinated with an effective CCTV system and any light fittings 
protected against vandalism. The overall lighting scheme should be well considered 
and evenly distribute light avoiding dark shadows, provide good colour rendition, and 

111



not cause glare or light pollution and effectively support formal and informal 
surveillance within the block development and surrounding area. 
 
A good lighting system can be cost effective and ensure that there will be a witness to 
any intrusion. It should allow staff, students and visitors to feel secure and safe within 
their living environment. Importantly it should make intruders feel vulnerable and that 
there is an increased likelihood of being challenged. 
 
With regard to the lighting I would suggest that external lighting be low energy 
consumption lamps with an efficacy of greater than 40 lumens per circuit watt. Secured 
by Design has not specified this type of security lighting for a number of years following 
advice from the institute of Lighting Engineers and police concerning the increase in 
the fear of crime ( particularly amongst the elderly) due to repeated PIR activations. 
Research has proven that a constant level of illumination is more effective at 
controlling the night environment.  
 
External lighting must be switched using a photo electric cell (dusk to dawn) with a 
manual override. 
 
Lighting (bulk head style) should be designed to cover all external doors. 
 
Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP) 
 
All parking facilities should have a clearly defined boundary or perimeter area, if 
appropriate this boundary should include features which would prohibit the 
unauthorised removal of a vehicle from the parking facility. 
Clearly marked routes for both pedestrian safety and vehicular movement should be 
principles of a good public car-park. Signage that clearly indicates to users all relevant 
information should be simple, well designed and clear with contact telephone numbers 
or communication system for users. 
 
Ensure that there are no recessed doors. 
 
Consider ‘help points’ within the MSCP. 
 
Where roller shutters are to be employed they should comply with LPS 1175 grade 2, 
all locking systems should be robust and offer a high level of security. This is 
particularly relevant where ground floor access is available and should be restricted 
for both vehicles and pedestrian users out of operational hours. 
 
Parking bays: should be arranged, where possible to aid natural & formal surveillance. 
A one way circulatory system that is clearly indicated and easy to follow should allow 
users safe passage around the facility.  
 
Payment machines should be clearly indicated and positioned in well illuminated and 
visible areas ideally benefitting from CCTV surveillance. Payment machines should be 
emptied regularly. 
 

112



Dark and unlit passages or recessed areas should be avoided and access ramps and 
other areas should be constructed of and use materials that will deter ‘skateboarding 
or roller-blading’  
 
Objectives: anti-social behaviour; to deter the location from being used by drug users, 
that needles and other drug paraphernalia does not become prevalent in the MSCP.  
Pedestrian Access Points: should be minimised and at points where surveillance is 
prevalent and routes used should be those designated and supervised.  
 
Further advice and specific guidance can be obtained via the British Parking 
Associations website www.britishparking.co.uk or the Lincolnshire Police Qualified 
Park Mark assessor and/or CPDA. It is recommended that the operators achieved the 
‘Park-Mark’ Safer Parking award and become members of that scheme.  
 
Lighting 
 
Lighting has a great effect on the commission of crime; increased and appropriate 
lighting in areas of darkness can reduce the public’s fear of crime and reduce the 
opportunity for an offender to commit crime. As much use as possible should be made 
of natural light and general natural surveillance  
 
The position of lighting columns and infrastructure should not be positioned to provide 
access of climbing aids, and all cabling and equipment should be positioned in such a 
way as to prevent the opportunity for interference and/or criminal damage. 
Lighting should be to BS 5489 Part 9.  
 
There is a the potential for the MSCP to be used by non-vehicular users for 
recreational activities such as ‘skateboarding’ and therefore suitable devices and 
design alternatives should be considered to mitigate against such use.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me should you need further information or 
clarification on the above. 
 
Should the applicant/ developers require further detailed advice or information please 
got www.securedbydesign.com and access the current SBD Commercial Guide 2015 
V2 and/or the Resilient Design Toolkit for Counter Terrorism. 
 
Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust 
 
This application came to the attention of the Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust on the weekly 
list of planning applications as the application site includes part of the Witham Corridor, 
North of Bracebridge Local Wildlife Site (LWS). 
 
We have read the information submitted with the application and would not expect 
there to be any significant negative impacts on protected species provided the 
consultant's recommendations are followed. Whilst the presence of the LWS has been 
taken into consideration in the preparation of the Environmental Statement, it appears 
to have been written without access to the full details of the proposed scheme. 
 

113

http://www.britishparking.co.uk/
http://www.securedbydesign.com/


We would have some concerns regarding the proposals for decking within the riverside 
promenade area. It is not clear how much vegetation within the LWS would be affected 
by the construction and the ongoing shading that they would produce. We would 
recommend that the area of riverbank to be affected is minimised as far as possible 
and that construction impacts are reduced through good practice methods. We support 
the use of riparian planting, however the planting schedule should specify the use 
native species only of local provenance and be guided by the species found elsewhere 
within the LWS corridor. 
 
As there will be some loss of habitat due to the construction of decked areas on the 
riverbanks, we would recommend that consideration is given to extra habitat creation 
over and above that already suggested within the application. For instance, coir rolls 
pre-planted with appropriate native species could be attached to the retaining wall on 
the eastern bank. This would make the brick walls more visually appealing whilst 
providing some appropriate compensatory habitat for the proposed works on the 
western bank, however, this would of course be subject to approval from the 
Environment Agency for in-channel works on a main river and for flood risk purposes. 
Preplanted coir rolls can be sourced from a number of companies including Salix 
(https://www.salixrw.com/products/) who are an approved supplier of UK provenance 
plants, as listed by Fora Locale (see link below). 
 
We would expect a development of this scale to bring about net biodiversity gains on 
site. We strongly support the proposals for the landscaping scheme to incorporate rain 
gardens and a swale to contribute to a SUDS scheme as well as providing 
opportunities to include native and wildlife friendly planting, and for the inclusion of a 
green wall and green/brown roofs on a minimum of 5% of the roofscape. We are also 
pleased with the reference to the Life on the Verge project on page 147 of the Design 
and Access Statement and that the project has inspired the creation of a wildflower 
meadow on the road verge along Tritton Road. However, the suggested planting mix 
is indicative of good quality, established grassland and may not be the most 
appropriate or likely to flourish in this situation. Firstly we would recommend the 
removal of the two non-native climbers from the list and replacement with a choice of 
natives such as Rosa arvensis, Lonicera periclymenum, Clematis vitalba or Bryonia 
dioica. We would recommend use of a commercially available, UK provenance seed 
mix that comprises 80% meadow grasses and 20% wildflowers. 
 
Native meadow grasses are required to ensure colonisation of bare soil and will help 
to limit any invasive undesirable species. General purpose mixes that are suitable for 
a wide variety of soil types can be found at Emorsgate Seeds in Norfolk e.g. EM2 
Standard General Purpose Meadow mix (http://wildseed.co.uk/mixtures/view/3). Other 
suppliers are available and a list of approved suppliers of local UK provenance is 
available through the directory page at Flora Locale www.floralocale.org. 
 
For more information regarding species lists appropriate to different soil conditions and 
recommendations for preparation and essential management required during the 
establishment phase, please see our meadow management booklet: 
http://www.lincstrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/meadow_booklet_lwt_dec_2016.pdf. 
For any queries regarding species mixes or meadow creation please contact our 
Wildflower Meadow Project Officer, Aidan Neary on 01507 526667 or 07825 970930. 
 

114

http://www.floralocale.org/


The Trust would support the proposed mitigation and enhancement as included within 
paragraphs 11.156-11.169 of Volume 2 of the ES, under the section titled 'mitigation 
by design'. In addition to the inclusion of bird and insect boxes, use of night-flowering 
plants and a lighting scheme which avoids impacts on local bat populations, we would 
recommend that provision is also made for roosting bats within the scheme either 
through bat boxes on mature trees or incorporation of built in features within 
appropriate structures on site. We note that mention is also made at 11.158 of the 
potential provision of south facing wildflower chalk banks within the scheme. This idea 
does not seem to have been included elsewhere within the design and access 
statement or within the design codes, however we would wish to express our support 
for the suggestion. We would wish to ensure that the greatest biodiversity gains 
possible can be achieved through this. 
 
Natural England 
 
Thank you for your consultation on the above dated and received by Natural England 
on 7 February 2017. 
 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure 
that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of 
present and future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development. 
 
The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)  
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended)  
 
Natural England’s comments in relation to this application are provided in the following 
sections.  
 
Statutory nature conservation sites – no objection  
Based upon the information provided, Natural England advises the Council that the 
proposal is unlikely to affect any statutorily protected sites.  
 
Green Infrastructure  
The proposed development is within an area that Natural England considers could 
benefit from enhanced green infrastructure (GI) provision. Multi-functional green 
infrastructure can perform a range of functions including improved flood risk 
management, provision of accessible green space, climate change adaptation and 
biodiversity enhancement. Natural England would encourage the incorporation of GI 
into this development.  
 
Protected species  
We have not assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on 
protected species.  
 
Natural England has published Standing Advice on protected species.  
 
You should apply our Standing Advice to this application as it is a material 
consideration in the determination of applications in the same way as any individual 
response received from Natural England following consultation.  
 

115



The Standing Advice should not be treated as giving any indication or providing any 
assurance in respect of European Protected Species (EPS) that the proposed 
development is unlikely to affect the EPS present on the site; nor should it be 
interpreted as meaning that Natural England has reached any views as to whether a 
licence is needed (which is the developer’s responsibility) or may be granted.  
 
If you have any specific questions on aspects that are not covered by our Standing 
Advice for European Protected Species or have difficulty in applying it to this 
application please contact us with details at consultations@naturalengland.org.uk.  
 
Local sites 
If the proposal site is on or adjacent to a local site, e.g. Local Wildlife Site, Regionally 
Important Geological/Geomorphological Site (RIGS) or Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 
the authority should ensure it has sufficient information to fully understand the impact 
of the proposal on the local site before it determines the application.  
 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest Impact Risk Zones  
The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015 requires local planning authorities to consult Natural England on 
“Development in or likely to affect a Site of Special Scientific Interest” (Schedule 4, w). 
Our SSSI Impact Risk Zones are a GIS dataset designed to be used during the 
planning application validation process to help local planning authorities decide when 
to consult Natural England on developments likely to affect a SSSI. The dataset and 
user guidance can be accessed from the data.gov.uk website  
 
We would be happy to comment further should the need arise but if in the meantime 
you have any queries please do not hesitate to contact us. 
 
Residents and Interested Parties 
 
Mr Paul Ostafiehyk (7 Raglan House, Ruston Way) 
 
Comment: Currently Virgin Media do not service properties in the vicinity of the area 
including the Ruston Way area. Any modification to VM cables and green boxes ought 
to include incorporation of the residential, student and business properties in this area 
into the VM network to allow for additional choice. 
 
Mr Andrew McDaid (2 Beevor Street, Lincoln) 
 
Comment: I am the owner of No. 2, Beevor Street, I am concerned about the technique 
you plan to use to install the foundation to the new buildings adjacent to the 6 
remaining Victorian built properties on Beevor Street. If pilling is proposed I have 
serious concerns as to what damage this will cause mine & neighbouring properties. 
 
Gavin Gatliffe (by Email) 
 
I would like to express my view that I am in favour of all the development planned for 
St Marks in Lincoln. 
 

116



More retail space attracting new big names to the city, new jobs and a boost for Lincoln 
are all positive for the City. 
 
I would like to see this proposal passed. 
 
Mr. Peter Stimson and Mrs. Patricia Stimson (by Email) 
 
My wife and I wish to register our complete support for this development. Something 
that helps to modernise the city and, at the same time bring in financial rewards, 
should be encouraged. 
 
Regards, 
 
Peter and Patricia Stimson 
Saxilby, Lincoln 
 
  

117



William Steel, Cushman & Wakefield (on behalf of Royal Mail) 
 
We are instructed by Royal Mail Group Ltd. (Royal Mail) to comment on the above 
planning application (ref. 2017/0096/OUT) at the St. Marks Retail and Shopping Park 
in Lincoln. 
  
Background  
 
Royal Mail is the UK’s designated Universal Postal Service Provider, supporting 
customers, businesses and communities across the country. This means it is the only 
company to have a statutory duty to collect and deliver letters six days a week (and 
packets five days a week) at an affordable and geographically uniform price to every 
address in the UK. Royal Mail’s services are regulated by Ofcom.  
 
Royal Mail Properties  
 
Royal Mail provides a universal postal service utilising a network/portfolio of properties 
across Lincoln. The following property which forms part of this portfolio will be 
impacted upon by the proposals included in the ongoing planning application at St. 
Marks Retail Park:  

 Lincoln Delivery Office (DO) and Vehicle Services Centre (VSC), Firth Road, 
Lincoln LN5 7NU (BE no. 2711).  

 
The application site lies adjacent to the Lincoln DO and VSC on the opposite side of 
Firth Road, to the north of the DO and VSC. The mix of uses, and the traffic generated 
from the proposed development, have the potential to be harmful to Royal Mail’s 
operations, and thus ability to meet its obligation to provide a universal postal service, 
if not properly managed. 
 
The location of the Lincoln DO & VSC in relation to the application site is indicated on 
Figure 1 below. 
 

118



 
Figure 1: Location Plan  
 
Representations  
 
Royal Mail’s concerns in relation to the above development relate to the following 
issues:  

 Highways congestion;  

 Road safety;  

 Construction traffic;  

 Access routes; and  

 Amenity.  
 
Royal Mail wish to highlight the trip intensive operations currently carried out at the 
Lincoln DO and VSC, and request that the impacts of the proposed development be 
managed in order to avoid harm to Royal Mail’s operations.  
 
It is essential that Royal Mail’s operations at this location are not disrupted as a result 
of the development proposals included in the application at St. Marks Retail Park, as 
this would harm Royal Mail’s ability to meet its obligation to provide a universal postal 
service under the Postal Services Act 2011. It should be noted that at the above site 
is operational and Royal Mail currently have no plans to close or relocate the Delivery 
Office and Vehicle Services Centre facility. 
 
Royal Mail vehicles currently enter and exit the site along Firth Road in either direction. 
Any compromise in Royal Mail’s ability to do so would cause significant diversions and 
thus delays for Royal Mail’s delivery vehicles, and would be detrimental to Royal Mail’s 
ability to meet its obligation to provide a universal postal service.  
 

119



The vehicles travelling to and from the delivery office per day can be summarised as 
follows:  

 120 delivery vans;  

 9 delivery lorries;  

 customer vehicles; and  

 staff vehicles.  
 
It is noted that the main access to the development is to be on the northern side of the 
application site, on Rope Walk, but that Firth Road may be used as a servicing access 
for sections of the development. Table 4.2 from the planning statement submitted with 
the application indicates that there will be a substantial increase in the level of 
floorspace on the site. The number of trips to and from the site is likely to increase as 
a result. Firth Road, Tritton Road, Rope Walk and High Street are all important routes 
for Royal Mail vehicles carrying out deliveries. Any increase in congestion along these 
routes, or diversion of Royal Mail vehicles, could cause significant delays, thus 
harming Royal Mail’s ability to provide an effective universal postal service. 
 
Therefore it is requested that the requirements for mitigation measures in relation to 
the highways impact from the proposed development take into account the trip 
intensive nature, and importance of preserving the efficiency of Royal Mail’s 
operations from the Lincoln DO and VSC.  
 
Further clarity is sought over the arrangements for the servicing of part of the 
development via Firth Road, including the access arrangements into the proposed 
development and the volume and type of traffic which will use Firth Road to access 
the development. It is essential that this issue be addressed in order to avoid 
significant harm to Royal Mail’s operations, and harm to road safety. This is particularly 
relevant given that Firth Road provides the access for all Royal Mail vehicles travelling 
to and from the Lincoln DO & VSC, and that the planning statement submitted with the 
application indicates that residential units and student accommodation are to be 
accessed for servicing via Firth Road. 
 
The indicated servicing access points on the Access parameters plan (ref. 389/SML) 
for the application are located on a corner of Firth Road which has poor visibility as a 
result of the wall on the southern side of the road and the commercial units which lie 
adjacent to this section of Firth Road on the southern side. Whilst it is noted that this 
corner is currently used as a servicing access for the commercial units on the northern 
side of the road, if not properly managed, access for residential uses could increase 
the probability that this traffic will conflict with vehicle movements associated with the 
Lincoln DO & VSC, and increase the risk to road safety. Therefore it is requested that 
a detailed site management/servicing plan is required, and is consulted upon for the 
proposed development. 
 
The Access parameters plan (ref. 389/SML) indicates that a ‘principle pedestrian route’ 
is to pass through the site, connecting onto Firth Road, along the banks of the River 
Witham. As this is an existing pedestrian and cycle route, further clarity is sought 
over whether any upgrades are proposed to this route. Any upgrades to this pedestrian 
route should be cognisant of Royal Mail’s trip intensive operations adjacent to this 
section of Firth Road, particularly given that vehicles need to cross a relatively narrow, 
single carriageway bridge at this point. Royal Mail would object to any proposal to 

120



restrict the ability for its delivery vehicles to use Firth Road on the western side of the 
DO & VSC, as this would cause significant diversions for Royal Mail vehicles. 
 
Any road closures, and construction traffic associated with the construction of the 
proposed development have the potential to cause significant harm to Royal Mail’s 
operations. In addition it is noted that the car park directly to the north of the delivery 
office is to be redeveloped, the demolition of which could cause significant harm to the 
amenity of staff and customers at the Lincoln DO & VSC if not properly managed. It is 
therefore requested that a detailed construction management plan is required, and is 
consulted upon for this proposed development. 
 
As residential units are included in the proposed development, it should be noted that 
Royal Mail’s operations are relatively noise intensive, and that Royal Mail require 
flexible hours of operation in order to fulfil their obligation to provide a universal postal 
service (the existing opening hours at this facility are 12am to 10pm on week days, 
10am to 4pm on Saturdays, and 10am to 8pm on Sundays). It is requested that noise 
mitigation measures are required for any residential development within the vicinity on 
the Lincoln DO and VSC. Residential units should be set away from the DO and VSC, 
and/or noise mitigation measures such as landscaping, acoustic fencing and/or 
internal noise insulation should be required in order to provide a sufficient level of 
mitigation. This approach should be implemented to safeguard the amenity of the 
prospective residents in the proposed development, and to avoid the potential for 
Royal Mail’s operations to be compromised as a result of noise complaints. 
 
This approach accords with adopted Government guidance set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (March 2012) which advises that local planning 
authorities should help achieve economic growth by planning proactively to meet the 
development needs of business and support an economy fit for the 21st century. The 
NPPF advises that local planning authorities should support existing business sectors, 
taking account of whether they are expanding or contracting. In relation to sustainable 
transport, the NPPF advises that all developments which generate significant amounts 
of movement will need to take account of whether safe and suitable access to the site 
can be achieved for all people (paragraph 32), and that developments should be 
located and designed where practical to create safe and secure layouts which 
minimise conflicts between traffic and cyclists or pedestrians (paragraph 35). 
 
Responding to the considerations outlined above will assist in meeting the 
requirements of Lincoln City Local Plan policies 67A – Existing Allocations for 
Business and Industry, 18 – Development in Mixed-Use Areas, and 34 – Design and 
Amenity Standards; and draft Central Lincolnshire Local Plan policies LP13 – 
Accessibility and Transport, LP5 – Delivering Prosperity and Jobs, and LP26 – Design 
& Amenity.  
 
Next Steps  
 
Further to the above, we request that we are consulted directly on any future 
development proposals for the site to which this application (ref. 2017/0096/OUT) 
relates, including subsequent Reserved Matters applications should Outline 
permission be granted, and/or any amendments to the development proposals 
included as part of this Outline application. 

121



Jenny Hill, Lichfields (on behalf of Lincolnshire Co-operative Ltd.) 

 

122



 
 

123



 
 

124



 
 

125



 
 

126



 
 
  

127



Tim Waring, Quod (on behalf of Debenhams) 

 

128



Application Number: 2017/0366/FUL 

Site Address: Land At Blenheim Road, Lincoln. 

Target Date: 6th July 2017 

Agent Name: CDM Design Solutions 

Applicant Name: Mr & Mrs Sharpe 

Proposal: Erection of building to accommodate 2no. 1 bedroom 
apartments and 8no. 2 bedroom apartments. Provision of 7no. 
car parking spaces and associated external alterations. 

 
Background - Site Location and Description 
 
The proposed development plot is situated within Lincoln’s west end’, located on the north 
side of Blenheim Road and some 250 metres north of Carholme Road. Surrounding the 
immediate development site are domestic residential properties, St. Faith’s CoE infant 
school, and Lincolnshire SureStart Children’s Centre.  
 
The proposed scheme seeks permission for 2no. 1 bedroom apartments and 8no. 2 
bedroom apartments with associated car parking, infrastructure and hard landscaping. A 
total of 7 no. car parking spaces are proposed, sited to the rear of the building, accessed 
via a secure private automated entrance system.  
 
Site History 
 
No relevant history.  
 
Case Officer Site Visit 
 
Undertaken on 5th June 2017. 
 
Policies Referred to 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
Policy LP26 - Design and Amenity 
 
Issues 
 
Design and Visual Amenity 
Residential Amenity 
Highways  
Contaminated Land  
Archaeology 
 
Consultations 
 
Consultations were carried out in accordance with the Statement of Community 
Involvement, adopted May 2014.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

129

Item No. 4b



Statutory Consultation Responses 
 

Consultee Comment  

 
Highways & Planning 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
West End Residents 
Association 

 
Comments Received (see Nigel Manders) 
 

 
Lincoln Civic Trust 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Anglian Water 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Upper Witham, Witham First 
District & Witham Third 
District 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Lincolnshire Police 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Environment Agency 

 
No Response Received 
 

 
Public Consultation Responses 
 

Name Address  

Helena Burt 151 West Parade 
Lincoln 
LN1 1QS 
    

Angela Lastovskis 149 West Parade 
Lincoln 
LN1 1QS 
  

Jill Wilson 153 West Parade 
Lincoln 
LN1 1QS 
                                                 

Mr Mark Popplewell 27 Blenheim Road 
Lincoln 
LN1 1PU 
     

Mr Nigel Manders 1 York Avenue 
Lincoln 
LN1 1LL 
  

130



Mr Mike Cancedda 45 West Parade 
Lincoln 
LN1 1PF 
  

James Burt 151 West Parade 
Lincoln 
LN1 1QS 
 

 
The objections received on the application can broadly be summarised by the following 
concerns:  
 

 Overlooking to the rear  

 Height 

 Loss of light to the rear 

 Overbearing to the rear  

 Lack of parking  
 
Each of these issues will be discussed within the main body of the report.  
 
Consideration 
 
Appearance and Design 
 
Paragraph 60 of the NPPF is clear that planning policies and decisions should not attempt 
to impose architectural styles or particular tastes but it is proper to seek to promote or 
reinforce local distinctiveness. 
 
Overall it is considered that the proposed development has the right design approach for 
this context. The massing and height of the development is appropriate for this context and 
is in keeping with the properties built on the adjacent site which site comfortably within the 
surrounding context.  
 
Blenheim Road has a mixture of architectural styles, periods and use types. Policy LP26 
requires all development proposals to take into consideration the character and local 
distinctiveness of the area. It is considered that the proposed design would be in keeping 
with the mixed nature of the surrounding area, a modern interpretation of the traditional 
terraces found elsewhere in the area. The proposed materials would fit in the existing 
palette found within the street. It is considered that the proposal conforms with Paragraph 
61 of the NPPF as the scheme integrates into the surrounding built and historic 
environment and considers the local character in accordance with local policy.  
 
The front would have a masonry boundary wall, 750mm in height with a pressed metal trim 
capping. Access to flats 1 and 3 would be taken directly from the front elevation with an 
additional door leading to a lobby with stair access to the flats above and a ground floor 
store. Therefore whilst the development is split into a number of flats for the purposes of 
the street scene it is viewed as separate dwellings.  
 
Residential Amenity 
 
The amenities which all existing and future occupants of neighbouring land and buildings 
may reasonably expect to enjoy must not be unduly harmed by or as a result of 

131



development. 
 
The greatest impact from the proposed development would be the relationship from the 
rear of the site to the existing properties on West Parade. In terms of separation distances, 
the rear wall of the proposed development would be located 19metres from the rear 
boundary wall of 149 West Parade, and 22metres from the rear of 153 West Parade. 
When looking at the existing block plan it can be seen that this is not an unusual distance 
between properties in a built up residential area and is fairly typical of the relationship 
between rows of terraced streets.    
 
A number of objections have been received from the occupants of the properties on West 
Parade concerned with overlooking from the proposed development. The Planning 
Officers shared this concern because of the inclusion of balconies on the rear elevation. 
This is not a feature that would ordinarily be supported because of the potential for 
overlooking. Following conversations with the applicant they have proposed to raise the 
height of the balustrade from 1.2metres to 1.7metres in height. This would be above eye 
level and therefore would prevent people being able to look over the balcony. As well as 
this the balconies would be obscure glazed with solid sides, preventing any opportunity for 
overlooking.  
 
Whilst the case officer has questioned the value of the balconies for the future occupants 
of the development, it is not for the LPA to impose a particular style of development. 
However it is considered that the proposed amendments have addressed concerns of 
overlooking to properties on West Parade. Because the height of the balustrade and 
obscure glazing are vital to ensure that the privacy of neighbours is retained it would be 
considered necessary to impose a condition that these elements of the scheme cannot be 
changed.   
 
To the rear of the site is a substantial 3metre high brick wall. This will be retained and 
repointed as part of the scheme. This screens all of the ground floor of the site from the 
properties to the rear, and in particular would prevent any impact from the rear parking 
area on these properties from light or noise.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed residential development would be compatible 
with neighbouring residential uses and issues on neighbour amenity has been adequately 
addressed so as not to warrant refusal of the application on these grounds. This is in 
accordance with Policy LP26 of the Local Plan.  
 
S106 Agreement 
 
The West End area of Lincoln has, following the substantial growth of the University of 
Lincoln, seen a significant number of properties being let as shared student houses and 
homes in multiple occupation. The high proportion of students living in the area has 
resulted in an imbalance within the community. The composition of the local community 
has been significantly altered by the presence of a transient, student population. The 
applicants have been invited to enter into a S106 agreement which would restrict 
occupancy of the proposed apartments by students, which the applicants have indicated 
they would be happy to sign. It is hoped that this approach across this part of the city will 
start to address the imbalance within the community.  
 
 
 

132



Contaminated Land 
 
A site investigation report has been submitted as part of the application. The report 
identified the only remediation requirement is the possible upgrading of water supply pipes 
to be protective of contamination. As such it is recommended that a condition be placed on 
any consent granted to ensure these details are submitted.  
 
Archaeology 
 
Having consulted the Lincoln Historic Database's collection of historic maps, in particular 
the 1888 Town Plan, it appears that the site may fall within the footprint of the former 
Foster's Brickyard. It is therefore possible that any archaeological potential on this site has 
been removed by clay pits. It is therefore the advice of the City Archaeologist that there is 
no need for further archaeological investigation to be undertaken to mitigate the impact of 
development on the site. 
 
Highways 
 
The proposed development would be accessed via Blenheim Road, with vehicle access 
through the site to a private parking area to the rear. The proposal would provide 7 off 
street parking spaces. Whilst this does not equate to one space per apartment it is 
considered beneficial to the scheme. It is unusual within this part of the city for properties 
to have their own dedicated parking therefore this should be seen as a benefit of the 
scheme.   
 
The Highways Authority have raised no objections to the proposed scheme. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is considered that the design of the proposed development has had regard to the 
character of the surrounding area and is of a scale and height in keeping with the adjacent 
properties and the surrounding area. With the amendments made to the scheme the 
development would have no adverse impact on neighbours in terms of loss of privacy by 
overlooking and the separation distances are of similar distances found with existing 
terrace properties. Therefore the proposal would accord with both national and local 
planning policy and would be a positive addition to the area.  
 
Application Determined Within Target Date 
 
Yes. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the application is Granted Conditionally.  
 
Conditions 
 
Development to commence with three years 
Development to be carried out in accordance with the plans  
Samples of the materials  
Contaminated Land  
Balconies cannot be changed in anyway without the written consent of the LPA 

133



Surface water drainage  
Close the existing access 
Highway plans be available at all times 
Rear boundary wall to be retained unless otherwise agreed with the LPA  

134



Plans  

Site Location Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

135



 

 

Block Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

136



 

 

 

 

Ground Floor Plan 

 

 

 

137



 

 

 

 

 

 

First Floor Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

138



Second Floor Plan  

 

 

 

Front Elevation  

 

 

 

 

139



Rear Elevation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

140



Visuals  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

141



 

 

Photos 

 

Photo taken from rear of Blenheim Mews  

 

Looking east along Blenheim Road 

142



 

 

Gable end of 22 Blenheim Road  

 

Gable end of 8 Blenheim Mews  

143



 

Within site looking at north and east boundary 

 

Site to left of photo  

144



 

Site looking from Blenheim Road  

 

Site looking from Blenheim Road  

 

145



 

Site to right of photo  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



This page is intentionally blank.



Application Number: 2017/0454/RG3 

Site Address: Queens Park Play Area, South Park, Lincoln 

Target Date: 30th June 2017 

Agent Name: None 

Applicant Name: Mrs Suzanne Paul 

Proposal: Installation of 4.7m high play equipment. 

 
Background - Site Location and Description 
 
The application site is Queens Park play area, located at the western end of South Park, 
close to its junctions with St Catherine’s and High Street. South Park forms the northern 
boundary of the site, and includes several properties on the opposite side which face the 
play area. Queens Park School and Bernadette House nursing home are located to the 
west. Mature trees and common land exist to the south and east of the site. 
 
The play area includes a variety of play equipment including a slide, swings and basketball 
hoop and court. The proposed equipment would be sited on an area of hardstanding 
between the existing slide and basketball court. 
 
The site is located within a Green Wedge and abuts Conservation Area No. 4 'St 
Catherine’s'. 
 
Site History 
 
No Relevant Site History. 
 
Case Officer Site Visit 
 
Undertaken on 18th May 2017. 
 
Policies Referred to 
 
Policy LP1 A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 9 
Policy LP22 Green Wedges 56 
Policy LP25 The Historic Environment 60 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
Issues 
 
- National and Local Planning Policy   
- Impact on Green Wedge 
- Impact on the Setting of Conservation Area No. 4 
 
Consultations 
 
Consultations were carried out in accordance with the Statement of Community 
Involvement, adopted May 2014.  
 
 
 
 
 

165

Item No. 4c



 
Statutory Consultation Responses 
 

Consultee Comment  

 
Lincoln Civic Trust 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Highways & Planning 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Public Consultation Responses 
 
No Responses Received. 
 
Consideration 
 
The application proposes the installation of a 4.7m high 'Mega Deck Tower' on an area of 
hardstanding between the existing slide and basket ball court at Queens Park play area. 
The unit would include two plastic slides, and several climbing opportunities, for children 
aged 4 to 12. 
 
National and Local Planning Policy 
 
At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and strategy for Central 
Lincolnshire (2017) is a desire to deliver sustainable growth that brings benefits to all sectors 
of the community. 
 
Policy LP22 'Green Wedges' of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (2017) is permissive of 
development within Green Wedges provided it can be demonstrated that the development 
is not contrary or detrimental to the function and aims of Green Wedges; and it is essential 
for it to be located within the Green Wedge, and the benefits of which override the potential 
impact on the Green Wedge. 
 
Policy LP25 'Historic Environment' requires development within, affecting the setting of, or 
affecting views into or out of, a Conservation Area to preserve (and enhance or reinforce it, 
as appropriate) features that contribute positively to the area's character, appearance and 
setting'. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council (as Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) has 
concluded that the proposed development is acceptable and, accordingly, does not wish to 
object to this planning application. 
 
Impact on Green Wedge 
 
Green Wedges prevent the physical merging of settlements, preserving their separate 
identity, local character and historic character; create a multifunctional 'green lung' to offer 
communities a direct and continuous link to the open countryside beyond the urban area; 
and provide an accessible recreational resource, with both formal and informal opportunities, 
close to where people live. They also conserve and enhance local wildlife and protect links 
between wildlife sites to support wildlife corridors. 
 

166



Queens Park play area provides formal and informal recreational opportunities, by offering 
a range of play equipment set within a wider green space. It is considered that the proposed 
play equipment would not be contrary or detrimental to the function and aims of Green 
Wedges, as it would be installed on an established play area, and enhance the play value 
of that area. 
 
Impact on the Setting of Conservation Area No. 4 
 
Although the proposed play equipment would be noticeable addition to the play area, by 
reason of its height and design, it would be seen within the context of the established play 
area and wider green space, and consequently would not adversely affect the setting of the 
Conservation Area. 
 
Lincoln Civic Trust has raised no objections to the application. 
 
Lincoln Townscape Assessment 
 
Queens Park play area is located at the centre of South Common Fringe Character Area, 
which is located around the periphery of South Common and forms a transition between 
Lincoln's rural hinterland and historic core.  The play area was built in 1953 and opened 
during the week of the Queen's Coronation. 
 
Application Negotiated Either at Pre-Application or During Process of Application 
 
No. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
None. 
 
Legal Implications 
 
None. 
 
Equality Implications 
 
None. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed play equipment would be a beneficial addition to the established play area 
within the Green Wedge, and would not adversely affect the setting of the Conservation 
Area, in accordance with policies Policy LP22 'Green Wedges' and LP25 'Historic 
Environment' of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (2017), and guidance within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012) 
 
Application Determined Within Target Date 
 
Yes. 
 
 
 

167



Recommendation 
 
That the application is Granted Conditionally. 
 
Standard Conditions  
 
01) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission. 
   
  Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
02) With the exception of the detailed matters referred to by the conditions of this consent, 

the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the details 
submitted with the application. The works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
details shown on the approved plans and in any other approved documents forming 
part of the application. 

   
  Reason: To ensure the development proceeds in accordance with the approved 

plans. 
 
Conditions to be discharged before commencement of works 
 
  None. 
   
Conditions to be discharged before use is implemented 
 
  None. 
  
Conditions to be adhered to at all times 
 
  None. 

168



Plans and photos for Planning Application 2017/0454/RG3 

Site location 

 

169



 

170



Site layout 

 

171



Proposed equipment 

 

 

 

172



Site photos

Proposed location of play equipment 

173



 

View towards properties on South Park 

View towards play area from park entrance 

174



 

 

  

View towards play area from South Park 

175



 

 

 

176



 

177



This page is intentionally blank.



 

Background - Site Location and Description  
 
The application is for the erection of a single storey rear extension and alterations to the 
existing roof, including increasing a section of the roofs ridge height by 1.1m to 
accommodate a loft conversion featuring 3 velux windows. The application premise is 1 
Primrose Close, a detached two storey dwelling, which has previously been extended in the 
form of a two storey side extension and front porch (planning permission 2009/0579/F) 
located off Brant Road, within the Henryboot development. The property also features a 
conservatory to rear which has been constructed under the properties permitted 
development allowance, although this proposal would see the demolition of the 
conservatory to facilitate the proposed single storey rear extension.  
 
The application is being presented to Members of the Planning Committee due to the 
number objections received against the planning application.  
 
Site History 
 
2004/0250/F - Erection of two storey side extension. – Refused  
 
2004/0533/F - Erection of a two storey side extension. (RESUBMISSION) – Granted 
conditionally at planning committee. 
 
2009/0579/F - Erection of a two storey side extension and front porch. –Granted 
conditionally at planning committee.  
 
2010/0074/RD - Submission of details to discharge conditions 3 and 4 of planning 
application 2009/0579/F –Approved  
 
Case Officer Site Visit 
 
Site visit undertaken to the application site on 16th May 2017 and additional visit as request 
by objector to properties 285 Calder Road and 283 Calder Road 18th May 2017. 
 

Issues 
 
To assess the proposal with regard to: 
Visual amenity 
Residential amenity 
Highways Safety 
 
Policies Referred to 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Policy 34 - Design and Amenity Standards 

179

Item No. 4d



 

Policy 64 - House Extensions, Domestic Garages and other Developments within the 
Curtilage of a Dwelling 
Policy LP26 Design and Amenity 63 
 

 

 
Consultations 
 
Consultations were carried out in accordance with the Statement of Community 
Involvement, adopted May 2014. 
 
Statutory Consultation Responses 
 
Highways & Planning -Comments received   
   

 

Public Consultation Responses 
 
285 Calder Road –Comments Received  
283 Calder Road- Comments Received 
6 Orchid Road – Comments Received  
2 Orchid Road- Comments Received 
 
Consideration of Issues 
 
National and Local Planning Policy 
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF outlines that “at the heart of the National Planning Policy 
Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development, which should be seen 
as a golden thread running through both plan-making and decision-taking. For decision-
taking this means: 
 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay; and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 
granting permission unless: 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole; or 

 specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted. 
 
Paragraph 56 states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for 
people. 
 
Paragraphs 63 and 64 are also key in highlighting that applicants should take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions. Buildings and extensions should promote high levels of sustainability through 
good design and weight will be given to outstanding or innovative designs which help raise 
the standard of design more generally in the area. 
 
The application property is within a residential area as allocated within the City of Lincoln 
Local Plan Proposals Map adopted 1998. Policies 34 and 64 are therefore relevant to any 
development to a residential property. 

180



 

 
Policy 34 – ‘Design and Amenity Standards’ states that development shall be granted for 
new buildings, extensions, alterations or refurbishment of existing buildings provided the 
scale, massing, height, design, external appearance and facing materials to be used in the 
development complement the architectural style and townscape character of the locality, 
and the siting and layout has a satisfactory physical and functional relationship to adjoining 
buildings and streetscape. 
 
Policy 64 – ‘House Extensions, Domestic Garages and Other Developments Within the 
Curtilage of a Dwelling’ states that planning permission will be granted for house 
extensions provided that the development will neither have an unacceptable impact on the 
amenity of adjacent property through the loss of natural light, outlook or privacy, nor upon 
the visual and other amenities of the wider area, nor involve the loss of off street parking 
space to below the relevant Highway Authority standard. 
 
Policy LP26 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan adopted 2017 relates to design and 
amenity standards and requires that all development, including extensions and alterations 
to existing buildings, must achieve high quality sustainable design that contributes 
positively to local character, landscape and townscape, and supports diversity, equality and 
access for all 
 
Objector Comments 
  
Objections received in the main are on the following grounds: - loss of privacy, loss of light, 
overbearing impacts, highways safety/congestion, impact on trees, noise and disturbance,   
the proposal being out of character with the area and detrimental to visual amenity by 
reason of its design and scale. 

 
Effect on Residential Amenity 
 
To the east of the application site are properties 2, 4, 6 Orchid Road, which are detached 
two storey dwellings. The proposed single storey extension and roof alteration would be 
located approximately 2m to the boundary with No. 2 and 9m to the boundary of No. 6. The 
boundaries with the application property are predominately defined by close boarded timber 
fencing and the brick side elevation of the applicants’ property. The rear garden of No. 6 
contains a number of mature trees adjacent to this boundary.  
 
To the north of the application site are properties located on Calder Road, the detached two 
storey properties of No. 285 and 283 are closest to the application site. The proposed 
single storey extension would be located approximately 8m to the boundary with No. 285 
and 12m to No. 283, the nature of the roof alteration would maintain the separation of 
approximately 11m and 13m to the respected boundaries. The boundary of No. 285 adjoins 
the application site and is defined by a close boarded timber fence and adjacent to this 
boundary the garden of No. 285 features mature trees and shrubs positioned linearly.  
 
3 Primrose Close adjoins the application site to the west and is a semi-detached two storey 
property. The proposed single storey extension would be located approximately 1.5m to the 
boundary with the roof alteration situated 1m away. The boundary between these 
properties is partly defined by a close boarded timber fence and the brick side elevation of 
No.3 garage. 
 

181



 

In terms of the impact of this proposal, it is considered that the increase in roof height and 
single storey extension proposed, given the scale of the proposal and separation to 
surrounding properties, would not have an unduly detrimental effect on the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties through the creation of an overbearing structure or exacerbating 
loss of light, to warrant the refusal of this application.  
 
In terms of overlooking, the applicant proposes installing a total of 3 velux widows to the 
roof plane, two to the front and one to the rear, it is apparent there is currently an 
opportunity to overlook from the applicants first floor windows, however this is a mutual 
relationship with surrounding properties. Although the installation of velux windows may 
introduce new forms of overlooking, the level of overlooking would likely be comparable 
with that which could be obtained from the existing first floor windows. Notwithstanding, the 
current positioning of mature trees within the neighbouring properties that currently provide 
a degree of mitigation, the interface distance between the applicants and surrounding 
buildings windows would be maintained at 21m or over, which is typical direct window to 
window relationship within suburban settings such as this, examples of which are abundant 
within this housing estate. It is therefore considered the level of overlooking is acceptable in 
planning terms and would not warrant the refusal of this application. 
 
Effect on Visual Amenity 
 
The street scene along Primrose Close and within the Henry Boot Estate is varied in 
appearance, in terms of having a mixture of property types and plots sizes with differing 
roofs types and pitch angles, however a relative coherent ridge height is maintained 
throughout the area. Whilst the alterations to the applicants’ roof height would present itself 
differently to the existing street scape it would be located within, the eaves height would 
remain consistent. It is considered, on balance, that the increase roof height and alteration 
to pitch angel would not appear unduly prominent or incongruous to warrant refusal of this 
application, subject to the conditioning of appropriate material samples.  
 
In terms of the single storey extension proposed, it would be located to the rear of the 
property which is not open to general public views, in any case, the extension is of an 
acceptable design of which is typical of properties of this size and type in terms of design, 
scale and siting.  
The application is therefore considered not to be unduly harmful to visual amenity or over 
development of the plot when viewed in the wider context of the street scene.  
 
Effect on Highway Safety 
 
Objections have been raised in relation to the former loss of parking through the 
implementation of the previously approved two storey side extension and potential future 
impact caused by the property extending again, in terms of subsequent impact of this on 
highway safety. Although this proposal would not directly result in a reduction in parking at 
the property, it is also noted there is the availability of parking on street with no parking 
restrictions.  
 
The Lincolnshire County Council as Highway Authority has assessed the application and 
has raised no objections to the proposal. Therefore based on this advice it is considered 
that the proposal would not be detrimental to highway safety or traffic capacity.   
 

 

 

182



 

Additional Comments  
 
Issues have been raised in relation to potential damage to tree roots, and an initially 
incorrectly filled out section 7 of the planning application form by the applicant, which stated no 
trees or shrubs were within falling distance of the boundary. Subsequently the applicant has 
amended this section of the form to detail presence of trees and shrubs.  
 
It should be borne in mind, the application site is not within a conservation area nor are any of 
the trees on the site or adjoining the site subject to Tree Preservation Orders. Therefore any 
trees could be felled/trimmed back at any point without the need the consent from the local 
planning authority. 
 
Although officers consider it highly unlikely the proposed single storey extension, which would 
be located in a similar position as the existing conservatory of the applicants, albeit of a 
smaller projection, would cause detrimental harm to neighbouring trees route systems. 
Essentially this would be a private matter between effected parties and not considered a 
reason to either refuse consent or warrant additional information being submitted.  
 
In respect of noise and disturbance, it is not considered this application would exacerbate 
any noise or disturbance that would not normally be associated with domestic situations 
where dwellings are near to one and another.  
  
Conclusion 
 
The proposed increase in roof height and single storey rear extension would not cause 
unacceptable harm to the residential amenity of neighbouring properties or the visual 
amenity of the wider area in accordance with Policy 34 and 64 of the City of Lincoln Local 
Plan, Policy LP26 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Application Determined Within Target Date 
 
Yes.  
 

Recommendation 
 
That the application is Granted Conditionally. 
 
Standard Conditions  
 
01) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
   
  Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
02) With the exception of the detailed matters referred to by the conditions of this 

consent, the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
the drawings listed within Table A below. 

  The works shall be carried out in accordance with the details shown on the approved 
plans and in any other approved documents forming part of the application. 

   
  Reason: To ensure the development proceeds in accordance with the approved 

183



 

plans. 
 
Conditions to be discharged before commencement of works 
 
3)      Samples of all external materials to be used in the development shall be submitted to 

and approved by the Local Planning Authority before the development commences.  
The approved materials shall not be substituted without the written consent of the City 
Council as Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.  
    
Conditions to be discharged before use is implemented 
 
  None. 
  
Conditions to be adhered to at all times 
 
  None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

184



 

 
Site Location Plan 

 
 
Revised Block Plan with Trees Shown 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

185



 

 
Existing Elevations  

 
 

186



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

187



 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 

188



 

 
 

189



 

 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

190



 

Proposed Elevations  

 
 

 

191



 

 
 
 

 
 
 

192



 

 
 
 

193



 

 
 

194



 

 
 

195



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

196



 

Case Officer Site Photos  

 
 

 
Rear of Applicants Property  

197



 

 
View North from Applicants Garden, Towards Properties on Calder Road 

 
View to the East Towards Houses on Orchid Road from Applicants Garden  

198



 

 
View to the West from Applicants Garden  

  
View to the North Towards Calder Road from Applicants’ First Floor Bedroom Window  

199



 

 
View from the Rear Garden of 283 Calder Road Towards Applicants Property  
 

 
View from the Rear Garden of 285 Calder Road Towards Applicants Property 

200



 

 
View from the First Floor Bedroom of 285 Calder Road Towards Applicants’ Property 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

201



 

Correspondence received  

 

 

202



 

 

203



 

 

204



 

 
 
 

205



 

 
  

206



 

 

207



 

 
 
 
 

208



 

 
 
 

209



 

 
 

 

210


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes - 24 May 2017
	3 Work to Trees in City Council Ownership
	4a Land Bounded By Rope Walk, High Street, Firth Road and Beevor Street, Lincoln.
	St. Marks Plans etc.
	St. Marks Site Photographs
	St. Marks - Consultation Responses

	4b Land At Blenheim Road, Lincoln.
	Blenheim Road Plans etc
	Blenheim Road - comments

	4c Queens Park Play Area, South Park, Lincoln.
	QueensPark_Plans&Photos

	4d 1 Primrose Close, Lincoln

